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VISION
To be a leading triathlon nation and grow the sport of Triathlon in Australia

MISSION
To ensure the existence of quality participation opportunities and pathways within the 

sport of Triathlon in Australia

CORE VALUES
Health   Enjoyment   Belonging   Achievement 

KEY OBJECTIVES 

ORgANISATIONAl EXCEllENCE
“To build a sustainable and prosperous organisation by enabling innovation, collaboration and excellence in the 

development of its assets”

PARTICIPATION
“To grow participation in the sport of triathlon by providing leadership and increased opportunities”

MEMBERSHIP
“To grow membership by increasing the number of new members and retaining existing members”

EvENT
“To ensure that opportunities exist at all levels to compete in events of the highest quality through leadership and 

collaboration”

HIgH PERfORMANCE
“Sustained international success through the provision of an effective and efficient athlete & coach pathway”

BRAND
“To develop the Brand of Triathlon so as to increase external investment in the sport”
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PATRON’S MESSAgE
W hat an exciting year 

of competition we saw 
in the world of triathlon in 
2012. The level of competition 
was extremely high as elite 
triathletes from every country 
fought long and hard to 
represent their country at the 
london Olympic games.

Australia’s triathletes – both 
men and women - put in 

some great performances throughout an extremely 
challenging year of competition culminating in the well 
earned selection of Courtney Atkinson, Erin Densham, 
Emma Jackson, Brad Kahlefeldt, Emma Moffatt and 
Brendan Sexton in the Australian Olympic team. 

The Australian triathlon community should be 
very proud of Erin Densham’s “gutsy” effort which 
culminated in her bronze medal. Not content to “rest on 
her laurels”  I note that since winning her medal Erin 
has continues to compete just as determinedly and at 
the end of August was leading the field in the Triathlon 
World Championships.

I was fortunate to be among the incredibly huge throng 
that lined the triathlon course throughout Hyde Park. 
The unbridled enthusiasm of the crowd confirmed the 
popularity of triathlon as a great sport for spectators 
and all forms of media alike. It is to be hoped that this 
wonderful “showcasing” of triathlon and the undoubted 
success of the event will help cement triathlon as a core 
sport on the programme for future Olympic games. 
However, no sport is assured of its place and triathlon 
must continue to work to earn that place. 

In the meantime I urge Triathlon Australia to continue 
to offer all possible support and encouragement 
to assist young Australian triathletes to attain the 
standard of excellence needed to join the ranks of 
the elite on the ever more competitive and growing 
triathlon world stage. 

As Patron I would also urge Triathlon Australia to 
continue to work to expand membership at grass 
roots level and to encourage every opportunity for 
participation and growth of this great sport at all levels 
of competition.

finally, I wish all Australian triathlon competitors and 
officials every success in the coming year.

PHIL COLES
PATRON
TRIATHlON AUSTRAlIA
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PRESIDENT’S REvIEW
As my final term as President 
of Triathlon Australia (“our 
association”) draws to a close, 
it is natural to reflect on my 
time in this role. In doing so 
one merely needs to read 
this Annual Report to gain an 
appreciation of the current 
breadth of activities of our 
association, it’s current financial 
position and an understanding 
of the level of achievement 

attained by so many of our members in their capacity 
as either athletes, officials, coaches or administrators, 
on a volunteer or paid basis, within our sport.

As an Olympic sport this year was always going to be 
a busy and challenging one as we prepared for the 
Olympic games in london. 

Our Australian men fought hard to earn the right 
through the ITU athlete points system to field a team 
of three representatives at the games. They of course 
succeeded and Brad Kahlefeldt, Courtney Atkinson and 
Brendon Sexton proudly represented our country in 
london.

The women, as usual, fought to the wire for selection 
in the team. Triathlon seems to have a history of hard 
fought and closely contested selection into our Olympic 
squads since it was first introduced as an Olympic sport 
in Sydney in 2000. It is a credit to our current Board 
for ensuring the selection policy originally agreed with 
the athletes and the Australian Olympic Committee 
(AOC) was strictly adhered to so as to protect the 
integrity of the process and to enable athletes to 
rely on the documented and agreed policy to earn 
selection. The team of Emma Moffat, Erin Densham 
and Emma Jackson proudly represented Australia and 
Erin continued the proud tradition of Australian women 
having won a medal at every Olympic games since 
Triathlon was granted Olympic status.

As President I have now witnessed the commitment 
and work required at an individual and organisational 
level for Erin to have achieved her Olympic medal. It 
was an extraordinary achievement and Erin, together 
with all those involved behind the scenes, deserves our 
highest accolade.

Not to allow ourselves to be completely distracted 
during an Olympic year from the many other distances 
we enjoy within our sport, it is with great pride as an 
Australian that I note Craig Alexander’s extraordinary 
record breaking performance in Kona at the 2011 

Ironman World Championships. Craig made it 6 years 
in a row that an Australian man or woman has been 
crowned World Champion at that distance.

There have of course been many other outstanding 
achievements during the year and they are listed 
in detail in this report. Our age group competitors 
continue to achieve on the world stage in all events 
supported by our association including sprint distance, 
Olympic distance, long distance, iron distance and 
duathlon. Congratulations to everyone who has excelled 
on the world stage or achieved their own personal 
objectives within our sport.

Triathlon is back in the 2014 glasgow Commonwealth 
games and the gold Coast has won the right to host 
the 2018 games so there will be plenty of action for 
Australia coming up within the Commonwealth arena as 
well in the near future.

Our annual gala awards dinner is now a permanent 
fixture on the Triathlon calendar. What an amazing 
event it was this year with Jackie fairweather, loretta 
Harrop and Emma Carney joining the Triathlon Hall of 
fame.

In addition to the above, Greg Welsh was the first 
Triathlete to be admitted as a member of the Sport 
Australia Hall of fame at a ceremony in Melbourne in 
October 2011. greg continues to trail blaze for our 
sport and his continuing support for our association and 
participation at committee level is greatly appreciated.

Since I was first elected President of Triathlon Australia 
I have been aware of the need for succession planning 
and to introduce a culture of rotation in office at 
both a President and elected director level. This is 
a fundamental principle of good governance for a 
volunteer organisation such as ours.

It is for this reason that the Board initiated the 
appointment of a vice President this past year and 
continued to use its powers to attract and appoint 
competent directors to vacancies the Board was 
empowered to fill, based on its knowledge of the 
experience and skills needed for a well balanced 
competency based Board. 

David ferrier has done an outstanding job as vice 
President during this past year and I take the liberty of 
acknowledging David’s contribution and thanking him 
personally for being such a great support and valued 
colleague during my term as President.

A great many initiatives have been made possible 
due to the hard work and commitment of the various 
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sub committees and working groups established by 
the Board over the past few years. These committees 
have provided an excellent means by which to bring 
together specialist expertise and resources from our 
membership. We have many talented and passionate 
members very willing to volunteer their time to further 
the goals and objectives of our sport. On behalf of all 
members I thank everyone who has contributed.

In recognizing those who have worked hard for our 
Sport it is important to acknowledge all our executive 
staff around the nation, the Boards of our State and 
Territory Associations and the committees and officials 
of all our affiliated clubs. A key objective during my 
term as President has been to create an environment 
and culture within both our National and State 
Associations where by executive resources within our 
sport would work cooperatively together in the best 
interests of our sport and our members. I am very 
pleased to observe the considerable progress which 
has been achieved in this regard and I thank everyone 
across Australia, at both a State and National level, 
for making this happen. What appears on the surface 
to have been a simple idea has taken many years to 
achieve and all involved in making this cultural shift 
deserve to feel proud of their achievements to date.

In conclusion I am extraordinarily proud to have served 
our association as President and feel privileged to have 
worked with so many dedicated and passionate people 
who share the vision for our sport across Australia. In 
particular I wish to thank my fellow directors for their 
contribution and unwavering commitment to the good 
governance of our association. I am privileged to have 
worked with such people. I also wish to thank our 
CEO, Anne gripper, and all her staff. Anne accepted a 
very tough assignment when recruited a little over two 
years ago and has worked hard with her team to bring 
our association to where it is today. As President I am 
grateful for her dedication, commitment and support.

There has been much achieved and of course there 
remains plenty to do. I am confident the baton of office 
is being passed to safe hands and I look forward to 
continuing to support our association and my fellow 
members in other roles as called upon in the future.

PETER HEDgE
PRESIDENT
TRIATHlON AUSTRAlIA
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CEO’S REPORT

A sparkling April day 
on Sydney Harbour was 
the magnificent backdrop 
against which the finest 
triathletes in the world 
battled for supremacy 
in the opening leg of 
the 2012 International 
Triathlon Union World 
Triathlon Series.  They 
were followed by almost 
2500 age group athletes 

enjoying the rare opportunity to swim beside the 
Sydney Opera House, ride across the Harbour Bridge 
and run through the Royal Botanic gardens.  later that 
evening, 300 of our members and guests gathered for 
our second Celebration of Champions Dinner to induct 
three great Australian triathletes – Jackie fairweather, 
Emma Carney and loretta Harrop into our Hall of 
fame.   I felt proud and honoured to be the CEO of a 
sport which can deliver a weekend like this  – with elite 
athletes, age group athletes, members and general 
spectators all gathering together to celebrate the 
essence of the triathlon experience.  

During my first full year as the CEO of Triathlon 
Australia in 2011-2012, I enjoyed leading our 
organisation through the second year of our 2010-2015 
Strategic Plan.  The plan provides a clear, simple guide 
to achieving our vision and mission.   My 2012 CEO 
report provides highlights of the year under each of the 
Key Result Areas  (KRAs) articulated in the Strategic 
Plan.   

KEY RESUlT AREA 1:  ORgANISATIONAl 
EXCEllENCE
One of our organisational highlights of the year was 
the further progress made on our National Operating 
Model.  like all other Australian sports, triathlon 
is established within a traditional federal structure 
comprised of a national association and eight state 
and territory associations (STTAs).  Rather than just 
accept the silo mentality and duplication that such a 
structure usually creates, we believe that triathlon, as 
the most contemporary Olympic sport, can demonstrate 
a different, more effective approach by working 
collaboratively towards our national objectives.  At the 
strategic level, TA vice President David ferrier as Chair 
of the National Operating Model Committee, steered the 
STTA Presidents towards such a national collaborative 
strategy.  At the operational level a very committed 
group of State Executive Officers and I convened 
regularly to ensure that we maximised our opportunities 

to provide consistent member services and efficiencies 
within our nine organisations.  During the course of the 
year, David and I attended at least one Board meeting 
of each STTA to create a level of understanding and 
commitment to the concept from the state and territory 
associations.

Triathlon Australia is now humming with a full 
complement of excellent staff.  Our investment in 
human resources commenced in September with the 
recruitment of four National Talent Coaches.  We were 
delighted to select the following coaches from a pool of 
remarkably experienced applicants: 

• Keiran Barry  - NSW/ACT
• Chris lang – WA/SA
• Jan Rehula  vIC/TAS
• Craig Walton  - QlD/NT

Under the leadership of Craig Redman in his role of 
National Manager, Athlete Development, these four 
coaches have propelled the National Talent Academy 
through an excellent first year of operation. 

Wayne goldsmith was next to come on board in October 
as National Manager, Coach Development.  filling a gap 
identified in our organisational structure, Wayne splits 
his time between building up our coaching resources at 
the community and club level and building up the skills 
of coaches within the High Performance program.

In february, we were delighted to welcome Troy Watson 
in the new position of National Manager, Events and 
Technical.  Troy’s role is to coordinate our technical 
program and to work with event organisers to ensure 
the provision of a wide range of safe and fair triathlon 
events are available to our members.   

In April we said farewell to Joelie Chisholm as our 
National Manager, Corporate Services.  During her time 
with Triathlon Australia, Joelie laid the groundwork for 
the financial and many of the organisational systems 
from which we now benefit.  I would like to record 
my thanks to Joelie for her leadership of this area of 
our organisation.  We were fortunate to recruit Stuart 
Hoopmann into the role of National Manager, Corporate 
Services to continue the work started by Joelie in this 
area of our business. 

Under the careful watch of the Board, and with 
responsible expense management by staff, the 
financial position of the national association continued 
to strengthen over the year.  The 2012 financial 
Statements show clearly that Triathlon Australia is now 
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in a strong financial position, with a prudential reserve 
which has almost reached our aim of twelve months 
operating expenses in reserve.

The members of our twelve Board Sub-committees 
provide many of the new ideas and different 
perspectives which give our sport a richness and depth 
of thought which keeps us relevant and appealing. I 
thank the many members who volunteered their time 
and expertise on the following committees during the 
year: 

• Age group World Championships Committee
• Awards Committee
• Communication Committee
• Elite Athletes’ Commission
• Elite Athlete Selection Committee
• finance and Audit Committee
• High Performance Committee
• National Operating Model Committee
• National Technical Committee
• Paratriathlon Committee
• Participation Committee
• Sydney ITU World Championship Series Race   
 Committee 

The enhancement of relationships with our key 
organisational stakeholders remained a priority 
for me. We continue to benefit from an excellent 
relationship with the Australian Sports Commission 
(ASC) who were strong supporters of triathlon during 
the year.  In October 2011, we signed the second 
Sport Collaboration Agreement between our two 
organisations.  The Agreement provides for significant 
financial support and professional expertise from 
the ASC.  I thank Melissa Backhouse as our Sport 
Partnership Manager at the ASC for facilitating this 
excellent relationship. I also met with the Australian 
Olympic Committee, the Australian Sports Anti-Doping 
Agency and the Australian Commonwealth games 
Association to ensure productive ongoing relationships.   

KEY RESUlT AREA 2: PARTICIPATION
The implementation of our Participation Plan 2011 – 
2016 guided our participation activities over the course 
of the year.  

Significant progress was made on developing 
our National Trystars program under the project 
management of Triathlon WA.  Trystars will attract 
young participants to the sport through six to twelve 
week skills development programs conducted by 
accredited community level coaches. As primary 
delivery partners, affiliated triathlon clubs will be 
provided with a high quality resource pack consisting of 
merchandise, session plans, coordinators kits, coaches 
kits and participant kits.  The skills programs will be 
timed to finish with an age appropriate triathlon and 
incentives for ongoing club membership.

Early progress was made on the development of a 
TryDis program under the project management of 
Triathlon Queensland.  TryDis will provide resources 

to clubs and coaches to ensure that they can offer 
opportunities for people with disabilities to learn the 
skills necessary for them to participate in triathlon.   

Work was commenced on a National Coach Training, 
Education and Development program with an initial 
focus on redeveloping our community and club 
coaching education.  In addition to undertaking wide 
scale consultation on the program, Wayne goldsmith 
conducted coaching development sessions in the ACT 
and South Australia.

Our National Triathlon Conference in 
September was focussed this year on increasing 
grassroots participation.  Called “Building our Base”, the 
conference featured a range of speakers from triathlon, 
other sports and the general community, covering 
topics such as junior participation, club-based events, 
entry level paratriathlon and the spirit of volunteerism.  
Representatives of 66 clubs were amongst the 120 
members from around Australia who attended the 
conference to explore the ways in which their club can 
attract new participants into the sport.  

As ever, our age group athletes continued to provide 
the backbone to our participation activities. During the 
year we continued to invest resources in the provision 
of services to our age group athletes including the 
selection, preparation and support of age group teams 
at ITU World Championship events in gijon, Spain 
(Duathlon), Henderson, USA (long Course) and Beijing 
(Aquathlon, Sprint and Olympic Distance). In addition, 
we recognised our Age group World Champions and 
National Champions at the Celebration of Champions 
dinner.  I thank Alex fehon for the care and attention 
she provided to the age group athletes over the course 
of the year.

KEY RESUlT AREA 3: MEMBERSHIP  
For the first time ever, at the end of 2011-2012 we 
offered our members exactly the same membership 
categories and fees, regardless of which State or 
Territory Association they joined.  Compared to the 68 
different membership price points in previous years, 
this year we offered members a simple membership 
structure, consisting of six member categories and 
six fees.   In several states the $120 adult annual 
membership fee was lower than previous years.  To 
boost and support club membership we set the 
membership fee for club members significantly lower 
than for non-club members. 

11,865 individual members joined Triathlon Australia 
during the year. This was a 22% increase on the 
9,735 individual members of the previous year. The 
opportunity to gain member-only priority to events 
which sell out quickly and a clearly defined National 
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Calendar with points and Championships available only 
to members contributed to the growth in membership.  
In addition, our new Member Benefits package offered 
participants additional incentives to become an annual 
member. The member benefits package includes $75 
worth of vouchers to spend online with SCODY, access 
to discounted triathlon magazines and books, offers 
on Bike insurance and access to the Triathlon Australia 
ActiveTrainer (TAAT), a free online training tool.   

KEY RESUlT AREA 4: EvENTS
The provision of a broad range of safe, fair and 
fun events for members is a key priority of the 
association.  from enticer novice events, through sprint 
and olympic distance to half and full iron distance 
races, our members had 448 sanctioned races from 
which to choose during the year.  The quality and 
professionalism with which events were conducted 
is a testament to the clubs, state associations and 
professional event organisers who continue to ensure 
that our annual and one day members continue to 
benefit from the best thing which our sport can provide 
– triathlon races!

The Australian National Triathlon Championship Series 
was conducted for the second year. Consisting of three 
premier race weekends held in geelong, Mooloolaba 
and Sydney, each of these events combined a large 
scale age group race with Elite and Junior ITU points 
races.  The series maintained its international flavour, 
with the Mooloolaba race hosting the opening leg of 
the 2012 ITU World Cup Series and the Sydney race 
hosting the first leg of the ITU’s top tier racing - the 
ITU Dextro Energy World Triathlon Series.  Significant 
prizemoney for the elite categories, live television 
coverage and a large number of spectators added to 
the race day buzz of these races. 

We developed, published and promoted our first 
cohesive National Calendar consisting of four x eight 
race Qualifying Series in Sprint, Olympic, long Distance 
and Duathlon. Members achieved points through 
these races which enabled them to qualify for the 
Australian Age group team.  Each of the Qualifying 
Series incorporated the National Championship title 
races – Duathlon in the Barossa valley, Sprint Distance 
in Canberra, Olympic Distance at Mooloolaba and long 
Distance at falls Creek.  Double points were on offer for 
the National Championships.   

I would like to provide a special note of thanks to the 
members of the National Technical Committee under 
the chairmanship of Jacqui Kenny.  This group of people 
continue to provide our sport with the leadership 
and attention to detail which ensures the safety and 
fairness of our sanctioned races. In particular this year 
we were honoured to be one of only three National 
federations to receive ITU accreditation for our level 
3 Technical Official training program.  Participants who 
successfully complete this course are automatically 
entitled to become ITU Technical Officials. 

  

KEY RESUlT AREA 5: HIgH PERfORMANCE
The stand out elite performance of the year was the 
“Emma, Emma, Emma” trifecta at the Hamburg World 
Triathlon Series race which was won by Emma Moffatt, 
ahead of Emma Jackson in second place and Emma 
Snowsill in third.  This weekend of racing was topped 
off Brad Kahlefeldt’s emphatic win in the men’s race.  
Emma Jackson demonstrated her potential by gaining 
fourth place in the overall ITU World Championship 
Series.  

We missed our objective of gaining a podium finish 
in each of the Junior, U23 and Elite events at the ITU 
World Championships in Beijing.  Congratulations to 
Ashlee Bailee for her second place in the ITU Junior 
World Championship race.  Our failure to win a medal in 
the other events is an indication that we must continue 
to invest in young athletes to ensure the “pipeline” of 
talent remains strong.

Our National Talent Academy (NTA) was established 
during the year to ensure that we nurture and provide 
optimal training and competition opportunities for our 
emerging talented athletes.  By the end of the year, 10 
young triathletes had met the minimum performance 
standards to be admitted into the academy.  They will 
benefit from a high quality daily training environment 
overseen by one of our four new National Talent 
coaches and a series of camps throughout the year.  
We are confident that the NTA will provide us with 
the pipeline of young athletes who can step into 
the shoes of our older athletes.  Our current lack of 
depth, particularly in the male elite field is somewhat 
attributable to our failure to create a National Talent 
Academy 8 to 10 years ago.  The NTA athletes of today 
will be our Olympic athletes of 2020.  

The opening of the AIS National Centre of Excellence at 
Pizzey Park on the gold Coast ensured that we have a 
home base for our high performance program. Triathlon 
shares the facility with Sprint Canoeing and BMX. 
Three Triathlon Australia staff members, Michael flynn 
(National Performance Director), Wayne goldsmith 
(National Manager, Coach Development) and Craig 
Walton (National Talent Coach) work from the centre.  
Our high performance program is also supported by 
Shaun Stephens in his role as AIS Triathlon Manager 
and several AIS Sports Science staff members.  

KEY RESUlT AREA 6: BRAND
Our new website went live on 1 July and has 
provided us with an excellent platform with which 
to communicate with our members and the broader 
community.  With the addition of a facebook page 
and regular member newsletters and newsflashes we 
were able to keep our members better informed about 
the successes of our athletes and the activities of the 
association. 

Our second Celebration of Champions Annual Dinner 
at Doltone House on 15 April was a sell-out success, 
enabling current and former champions of our sport to 
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be recognised in front of dignitaries, friends and family.  
In addition to our new Hall of fame inductees, we 
recognised Craig Alexander for his Ironman and 70.3 
World Championship wins and Melissa Rollison for her 
70.3 World Championship.

We established several significant partnership 
agreements during the year.  SCODY came on board as 
our uniform and clothing supplier and Bikesure as our 
bicycle insurance partner. giant Bicycles now provide 
top level bikes and accessories to our National Talent 
Academy athletes and Sheldon College became the 
first triathlon school of excellence.  We were one of 
twelve sports selected to partner with the Australian 
National Preventive Health Association to promote 
the key messages of the National Anti-Binge Drinking 
Strategy. We will do this primarily at our four National 
Championship events.  The sponsorship funds from 
this partnership will assist us in further developing our 
communication strategy and profile raising activities.  

Kate gallop was instrumental in the success of our new 
website, communication activities, the annual dinner 
and our partnership arrangements - so I thank her for 
efforts to increase the profile and integrity of our brand. 

SUMMARY
2011-2012 was a year of building and moving forward 
for our sport.   We continued to make good progress 
across all areas of our strategic plan. Working 
collaboratively across the whole of sport with our state 
and territory associations ensured that we delivered 
reliable and consistent services and benefits to our 
members. Enhanced relationships with new and 
existing partners and stakeholders increased the profile 
of our sport.

Once again I would like to acknowledge the absolute 
commitment of our national Board to the development 
of the sport of triathlon in Australia.  Under the 
thoughtful stewardship of Peter Hedge as President, 
and David ferrier as vice President, they have applied 
their professional skills and their passion for the 
sport to ensure that triathlon in Australia grows and 
flourishes.  My leadership of the organisation has been 
continuously informed and enriched by the input of the 
Board members during Board meetings, through their 
input to committees and in personal communication. I 
thank them for their time and wisdom. 

ANNE gRIPPER
CEO
TRIATHlON AUSTRAlIA
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MESSAgE fROM THE 
ASC
The Australian government is committed to 
increasing participation in sport and for our high 
performance athletes to excel on the world stage. 
Sport not only inspires and unites; it also promotes 
community involvement and active lifestyles.

The Olympic and Paralympic games is an exciting 
time for Australians and highlights the substantial 
contribution of sport to the Australian community, from 
athletes competing in the games to those involved in 
weekend club competition and social play, as well as 
parents and volunteers.

Australia’s performance at the london Olympic and 
Paralympic games is the culmination of extensive long-
term efforts across the Australian high performance 
sector. following the games, there will be opportunity 
to celebrate our success and critically review our next 
steps to ensure we focus and align our efforts to deliver 
the best possible results on the world stage.

It is two years since the Australian government 
delivered its new vision for sport through Australian 
Sport: The Pathway to Success.  As a result the 
Australian Sports Commission (ASC) received an 
increase in recurrent funding. Since then, we have 
focused on implementing our new plans, delivering key 
programs, supporting national sporting organisations 
(NSOs) to deliver participation and high performance 
outcomes while also assisting with building there 
capacity and improving collaboration, alignment and 
effectiveness within the Australian sport sector.

The 2012 Budget delivered a continuation of the Active 
After-school Communities program.  This will enable 
primary school-aged children across the country the 
opportunity to embed sport and physical activity into 
their daily life. We will continue working with sporting 
organisations at all levels to ensure the program 
provides maximum value to sports and supports the 
transition of program participants into local clubs.

The Prime Minister’s Olympic and Paralympic Challenges 
were a unique way for primary school children to 
capture the Olympic spirit and create their own Olympic 
journey. This initiative encouraged and inspired 
children to get active, have fun and earn rewards. This, 

coupled with participation programs delivered by NSOs, 
continues the Australian government’s commitment to 
ensuring greater access to the benefits of sport.

The support received from the Australian government 
for Australian sport is essential and plays an integral 
role in connecting our young sporting participants with 
their dreams of podium success in the future.

This is an exciting and challenging time for Australian 
sport. The Australian Sports Commission looks 
forward to working with sporting organisations, state 
and territory institutes and academies of sport and 
departments of sport and recreation, to promote access 
to, and participation in sport. Together we can promote 
an active lifestyle and develop sporting champions now 
and into the future.

MR DAVID gALLOP

ACTINg CHAIRMAN 
BOARD Of THE AUSTRAlIAN SPORTS 
COMMISSION
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TRIATHlON AUSTRAlIA
President 
Peter Hedge 

Resident of Sydney, NSW
Elected to the Board as President in 
November 2009

Peter is a former Partner of 16 years 
at PricewaterhouseCoopers and since 

2003 has developed a career as an independent 
consultant, interim executive and independent non-
executive director. Peter has extensive experience in 
risk management, corporate governance, compliance, 
operational and strategic planning, corporate 
restructuring, turnaround and business management. 

Peter assisted Triathlon Australia and the Australian 
Sports Commission through various issues confronting 
the national sporting federation in 2004. Peter has been 
an active triathlete since the mid-80s and is a member 
of Balmoral Triathlon Club in Sydney, remaining a 
regular competitor.

Vice President
david Ferrier

Resident of Melbourne, vIC
Elected to the Board as Treasurer in 
2009

David is a partner in the forensic 
accounting team of the national 

accounting firm of KordaMentha, where he applies more 
than 20 years’ experience of accounting expertise to 
commercial and family related disputes. He previously 
spent 18 months as the Chief Financial Officer of a 
private business and is also the former Treasurer of 
Triathlon victoria.

He has competed nationally for many years and 
represented Australia in the age group team at the 
vancouver World Championships in 2008 and as a 
Board member, combines his love of triathlon with his 
financial acumen. 

interested director 
antHony Beven

Resident of Canberra, ACT
Elected to the Board in October 2000

A lawyer by trade and equally qualified 
in economics and applied finance and 
investment, Anthony has been a TA 

Board member since 2000 and is now in his fourth 
term.

Anthony has been involved at all levels of the sport: 
as an age group representative at the first World 
Championships in 1989; a committee member of 
the Papua New guinea Triathlon Association (1996-
1999); as race director of the Arafura Sports festival 
Triathlon and numerous other races; and as President 
of Triathlon Northern Territory (1993–1995 and 2002-
2005). Anthony’s interests and achievements in 
triathlon are constitutional reform, member protection, 
remote and regional triathlons and age group services.

interested director
MicHelle gallen

Resident  of Melbourne, vIC
Elected to the Board in November 2009
Resigned from the Board 17th April 
2012

Michelle has represented Australia in 
swimming, raced at elite level in Olympic Distance 
triathlon and finished Ironman as an age-grouper. She 
has served as secretary and treasurer of ACT Rowing, 
Chair of the ACT Minister’s Sport and Recreation 
Council, Chair of TA’s Elite Selection Committee and on 
the Selection Appeals Board of Athletics Australia. 

Michelle has legal qualifications including a PhD in 
sports law. She has worked as a sporting events 
manager, sports law and policy consultant, senior 
advisor and policy manager for ASADA and is currently 
State facilities Manager for Sport and Recreation 
victoria.
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BOARD Of DIRECTORS
interested director 
cassandra erBs

Resident of Brisbane, Qld
Elected to the Board in October 2010

Cassandra is a Marketing communication professional 
with more than ten years’ experience working in 
the private and public sectors with in-house and 
consultancy roles.

She is currently the Marketing Director at St Margaret’s 
Anglican girls School and St Aidan’s Anglican girls’ 
School, and has previously held a position on the 
Triathlon Queensland Board of Directors. Cassandra has 
held positions such as Marketing Manager at UQ Sport 
and Senior Account Manager at P4 group.

interested director 
Murray Hilder

Resident of Sydney, NSW
Elected to the Board in November 2009

Murray is a technical official with vast 
national and international experience, 

having been involved in all levels of triathlon, from 
juniors to world championships and Olympic games. 
Murray has competed in several Ironman races and 
is a member of Cronulla Triathlon Club, where he 
has served on the committee. Along with performing 
various senior technical roles at international events, 
Murray held the role of Technical Chair and Race 
Sanctioning Officer for Triathlon NSW from 2003-07, 
and was instrumental in achieving NOAS accreditation 
for the Technical Officials Program through the ASC. 

interested director 
Mick Maroney

Resident of Sydney, NSW
Elected to the Board in May 2012

Mick has been involved in the sport of 
Triathlon for 31 years as a professional 

athlete, age group competitor, coach, race director, 
volunteer, and held administrative and executive 
positions. Mick is a life Member of Cronulla triathlon 
Club, and an active member of Engadine Triathlon club.

As an athlete Mick represented Australia in 1990 at the 
Auckland Commonwealth games and won the Noosa 
Triathlon in 1989. Mick has  won 3 world titles as an 

age group competitor. Mick holds six University degrees 
and including a doctorate in education.

indePendent director 
Jacqui kenny

Resident of Brisbane, Qld
Appointed to the Board in December 
2010

Jacqui’s involvement with triathlon 
began as a participant in 1984 and as an official 
in 1989 while living in Canada. In 1990 Jacqui 
was a technical official for the ITU World Triathlon 
Championships in florida, USA and also a member of 
the Ontario Association of Triathletes Board and the 
Triathlon Canada Board. 

Jacqui has held a number of appointments within 
Triathlon Queensland as a Board Member, Technical 
Committee Chair and National Technical Committee 
State Representative and is currently the Chair of the 
Triathlon Australia National Technical Committee. Jacqui 
has over 20 years’ experience in sales and marketing 
in the scientific industry, currently working for Roche 
Diagnostics.

indePendent director 
Miles stewart

Resident of gold Coast, Qld
Appointed to the Board in April 2011

Miles has an impressive background in 
swimming, speed skating, duathlon, 

aquathlon, triathlon and cycling - winning national 
championships in all six sports. He made his debut as 
a professional triathlete at the age of 15, and went 
on to win the World Indoor Championship, a World 
Cup Championship, 10 ITU World Cups, the 1996 and 
2000 Australian Championships and, added two World 
Records to his name.

Miles finished 6th in the 2000 Olympic Games, 2nd at 
the 2002 Commonwealth games, and was awarded the 
Australian Sports Medal in 2001. Miles remains actively 
involved with triathlons and his foremost priority is to 
help raise the level of junior talent in Australia. He now 
works in property as a National Retail leasing Manager.
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BOARD SUB COMMITTEES
2011-2012

AgE gROUP WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS 
COMMITTEE
Anne Besser (f 60-64)

Tony Duffy (M 50-54)

Cyrma Hearn (f 35-39)

Michael Maroney (M 45-49)

James Rosborough (M30-34)

Anne gripper (CEO) 

Alexandra fehon (Executive Support) 

ELITE ATHLETES’ COMMISSION
Annabel luxford (Chair and National Team 

representative) 

Joshua Amberger (Elite Athlete representative)

Erin Densham (National Team representative)

Chris McCormack (Elite Athlete representative)

Bryce Quirk (former Elite Athlete representative)

AWARDS COMMITTEE
John Barker (Chair)

Brian Hinton (former Board Member)

Jane Hunt (Historian)

Amanda lulham (Journalist)

Noel McMahon (Journalist)

greg Welch (former elite athlete)

Anne gripper (CEO)

Kate gallop (Executive Support)

ELITE SELECTION COMMITTEE
 Anthony Beven (Appointed Chair April 2012) 

Michelle gallen (Chair until April 2012)

Simon Thompson (former Elite Athlete)

Michael flynn (National Performance Director)

COMMUNICATION COMMITTEE
Cassandra Erbs (Chair)

Ian Hanson (Media management)

Kary Hayes (Online journalist)

Reece Homfray (Print journalist)

Derek Mollison (Communications consultant)

Philip Stoneman (Athlete Management consultant)

Anne gripper (CEO)

Kate gallop (Executive Support)

fINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
David ferrier (Chair)

Peter Hedge (President)

Anne gripper (CEO)

Joelie Chisholm (Executive Support)
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HIgH PERfORMANCE COMMITTEE
Miles Stewart (Chair)

Melissa Ashton-garard (retired Elite Athlete)

Phil Borgeaud (AIS)

Andrew Collins (ASC)

Michelle gallen (TA Board Member, resigned April 2012)

Ben gathercole (former Elite Coach)

Anne gripper (CEO)

Michael Maroney (TA Board Member, appointed April 2012)

greg Nance (ASC)

Clare Prideaux (NSWIS)

Michael flynn (Executive Support)  

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE
Peter Hedge (Chair)

Anthony Beven (TA Board Member)

Cassandra Erbs (TA Board Member)

David ferrier (TA Board Member)

Anne gripper (Executive Support)

PARATRIATHLON COMMITTEE
Murray Hilder (Chair)

Michael flynn (National Performance Director)

Anne gripper (CEO)

Michael Hartung (Australian Paralympic Committee)

lindy Hou (Athlete)

Jacqui Kenny (Chair of the NTC)

Michael Milton (Athlete)

Alex fehon (Executive Support)

SYDNEY ITU WORLD CHAMPIONSHIP 
SERIES RACE COMMITTEE
Malcolm Noad (Chair)

Andjelka Bubalo (Destination NSW) 

Anne gripper (TA)

Daryl Herbert (USM Events)

Murray Hilder (TA) 

grant leslie (Triathlon NSW)

Tony Pipe (NSW Department of Premier and Cabinet)

David Ray (USM Events)

Kevin Simmonds (Destination NSW)

Troy Watson (Executive Support)

NATIONAL OPERATINg MODEL 
COMMITTEE
David ferrier (Chair - TA)

Tony Burke (vIC)

Brad gunn (QlD)

Anne gripper (TA)

Marcus Haward (TAS)

Murray Hilder (TA) 

Steve Hough (ACT)

grant leslie (NSW) 

David Mcleod (NT)

Rosalind Weaver (SA)

Peter Rash (WA)

Joelie Chisholm (Executive Support)

NATIONAL TECHNICAL COMMITTEE
Jacqui Kenny (Chair)

Phil Blumberg (NT) 

Suzie Bower (TAS)

Michael Haasmra (SA)

Murray Hilder (Director of Officials)

Debbie Hooper lees (QlD)

gaye Mckean (WA)

Bernard Page (Secretary)

Jon Treloar (vIC)

gai Webster (ACT)

Dave Williams (NSW) 

Troy Watson (Executive Support)
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STAff MEMBERS
HEAD OffICE

CHIEf EXECUTIvE OffICER Anne gripper

NATIONAl MANAgER, CORPORATE SERvICES Joelie Chisholm (resigned 27th April 2012)

NATIONAl MANAgER, PARTICIPATION AND MEMBERSHIP Alexandra fehon

NATIONAl MANAgER, EvENTS AND TECHNICAl Troy Watson

MATIONAl MANAgER, COACH DEvElOPMENT Wayne goldsmith

NATIONAl MANAgER, COMMUNICATION AND PROJECTS Kate gallop

fINANCE ADMINISTRATOR Jeannie Cheng

HIgH PERfORMANCE STAff

NATIONAl PERfORMANCE DIRECTOR Michael flynn

NATIONAl MANAgER, ATHlETE DEvElOPMENT Craig Redman

NATIONAL TALENT ACADEMY STAff

NATIONAl TAlENT COACH (ACT/NSW) Keiran Barry

NATIONAl TAlENT COACH (QlD/NT) Craig Walton

NATIONAl TAlENT COACH (vIC/TAS) Jan Rehula/Peter Robertson

NATIONAl TAlENT COACH (WA/SA) Chris lang

ITU AUSTRAlIAN REPRESENTATIvES
ITU vICE PRESIDENT Bill Walker

ITU EXECUTIvE BOARD MEMBER - OCEANIA Jenny Mann

ITU MUlTISPORT COMMISSION MEMBER Brian Hinton

ITU COACHES COMMISSION MEMBER Shaun Stephens
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AROUND THE NATION 
FIGURES & HIGHLIGHTS

Triathlon Australia has 8 affiliated State and Territory Triathlon Associations. Known as the STTAs, they are the 
official members of the national body. 

Over the 2011-2012 season, 11,735 individual members and 185 triathlon clubs affiliated with our Triathlon 
Australia via their State or Territory Association.

Here we bring you the membership figures and highlights achieved from each of our eight State and Territory 
Associations throughout the 2011-2012 membership season.

STTA CLUB AffILIATION fIgURES

STTA MEMBERSHIP fIgURES
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• former Assistant general Manager, Sarah Mareuil, was appointed as general Manager to lead the association 
throughout the 2011-2012 season. 

• Despite the unfortunate cancellation of our Capital Summer Series March 2012 event due to extreme weather 
conditions, all other events in the 2011-12 season were held successfully, including the Australian Sprint 
Distance Age group Championships in January 2012 and a national selection race for the Australian age group 
team at the 2012 World Olympic Distance Triathlon Championships.

• The success of our national events over the season has created an opportunity for increased support by the 
ACT government for our 2012-2013 event season, and for the future year’s national series triathlons. 

• A higher profile of water quality problems in Canberra’s lakes has meant that all major political parties 
contesting the ACT elections have supported the proposed remediation measures to improve water quality. 

• The Junior Development Program continues to strengthen its place in the elite development pathway in NSW 
and the ACT. 

• The kid’s participation program had increased numbers over previous years and provides a very good base for 
expansion when the National TryStars junior triathlon programme is launched for in the 2012-13 season.

HIgHLIgHTS fROM TRIATHLON ACT



Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2011-2012

www.triathlon.org.au | 23

Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2011-2012

• Membership of Triathlon NSW grew by 20.5% to an all-time record 3890 individual members.

• A continuation of the Women’s participation program saw a sell-out of the ever popular Women’s training camp 
and a Women’s Triathlon festival again introduced more than 300 new female participants to the sport.

• Event Organisers, Mark Emerton of Elite Energy and Paul Humphries of HEvents  introduced hundreds of 
new people to the sport with highly successful races across Enticer, Junior, Sprint, Olympic and long Course 
distances in Maitland, Newcastle, forster, Huskisson, Nowra, Wollongong, Callala Batemans Bay and west of 
the mountains at Wagga. Mountain Sports re-introduced triathlon racing to lithgow with a new event on the 
western edge of the Blue Mountains. 

• A sell out series of Sprint Races at Kurnell on the waters of Botany Bay with a new course introduced and 
Balmoral Club created history by taking out the NSW Club Championships at Forster for the first time.

• A restructure of the NSW Junior Development Program, and the start of a relationship with the NSW Regional 
Academy of Sports that will deliver quality triathlon training and coaching opportunities to most areas of NSW. 

• Triathlon NSW in conjunction with Hills Triathlon Club conducted the first Paratriathlon event in NSW.

• 8 Clubs in NSW moved to a membership model that required all club members to be members of Triathlon 
NSW/TA.

• For the first time Triathlon NSW provided for Clubs the technology for clubs to host online membership and 
race entry sites.  By the end of the year this facility was being used by 11 Clubs in the state.

HIgHLIgHTS fROM TRIATHLON NSW
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• Stu Fitch competed in the 2011 Ironman World Championships; Michelle Mitchell was the first female in the 
2012 Australian Ironman Championship; loie Sharp was the female winner in the age category 55-59 of the 
Australian Sprint Championships, Canberra.

• Michelle Mitchell was a nominee for Triathlon for NT Sportsperson Award in 2011. Other nominations in the NT 
Sports Awards were Robyn Stanley (volunteer), loie Sharpe (volunteer) and Daryl Stanley (Coach).

• The gove Triathlon Club (on the eastern tip of Arnhemland, and possibly the most remote triathlon club in 
Australia, was re-established under a new committee and had several representatives at the Cairns IM and 
70.3.

• A level 1 coaching course was conducted in Darwin.

• Three Territorians continue to compete at the professional level (Alison fitch, Michelle Mitchell, and Chad 
Anderson)

• The NT Duathlon Championships were held at Simpson’s gap outside Alice Springs in August 2011. The 
winners were both NT athletes Ben Streeter and leah glass.

• The 2011 finlay’s long Course Triathlon, a National Event Series race, was conducted at lake Bennett (75 km 
from Darwin) in August 2011 and was won by Brett verity (first male, NT) and Michelle Mitchell (first female, 
NT).

• The 2011 Ray White Sprint Distance Triathlon, a National Qualifying Series race, was held at lake Alexander in 
Darwin in April 2011 and was won by Stephane van der Bruggen (vIC) and NT athlete Claire Johnson.

• The 2011 Olympic Distance Triathlon, a National Qualifying Series race, was held at lake Alexander in Darwin 
in May 2011 and was won by Brett verity (first male, NT) and Alison fitch (first female, NT).

• The Junior Triathlon Team (Isabella Hatty, Hamish Wilshire, Joseph White, louise Jettner, Jasper Edwards) 
represented the NT at the National Schools Championships in Busselton WA.

• Successful Junior programs were conducted in gove, Alice Springs and Darwin and successful submission to 
School Sport NT for inclusion of triathlon in the School Sport program.

• Alice Springs Triathlon Club was able to enhance its equipment level during the year with the purchase of a 
finish arch, electronic timing system, club website and social media.

HIgHLIgHTS fROM TRIATHLON NT
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• A 12.5% increase in membership numbers reaching new highs of over 2,200 members over the season.

• Queensland saw strong sport participation across the state with over 35,000 participant entries across the 
season.

• Queenslanders were proud to be represented by Courtney Atkinson, Emma Moffatt and Emma Jackson, who 
made up half of the athletes selected onto the Australian Olympic Team to represent Australia at the 2012 
london Olympic games.

• The Moreton Bay Triathlon saw a major course improvement in its second year with Australia’s longest bridge 
closed for the cycle and run legs. Entry numbers grew from the inaugural event by over 40%.

• There was a high level of participation in Coaching and Technical Official accreditation courses run both in 
metro and regional areas.

• Triathlon Queensland welcomed Mark Williamson to the team who has taken on a newly created part-time 
position of Projects Officer, focussing on Active Inclusion initiatives. 

• The QlD Development Squad participation continued to grow with athletes involved in time trials, camps and 
races, including squads travelling to geelong and Devonport.

• After many years of dedicated service to triathlon in Queensland via technical official and Board member 
duties, Roy Hopper retires.

• Triathlon QlD welcomed Tony Compier to the team as CEO to lead the organisation forward in a time of growth 
and opportunity.

• Triathlon QLD saw a 59% growth in affiliated triathlon clubs from 32 to 54.

HIgHLIgHTS fROM TRIATHLON qLD
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• The re-introduction of a long distance race onto the calendar with the establishment of the Murray Man at 
Barmera, which now acts as the Australian National long Distance Championships.

• The first sell out of an event with the Victor Harbour Triathlon filling all spots 10 days out. It had over 1,000 
participants across all events. The first time this has occurred in some time.

• The successful partnering of our Junior Development programme with the School Sports program.

• An increase in the sponsorship of our Junior Development programme with 4 new sponsors coming on board.

• South Australia had several technical officials in senior roles at major events in Busselton, Melbourne and Abu 
Dhabi.  

• Our Age group representation overseas saw some standout performances, including Andrena Moore  who 
became the Australian World Champions in the female 60-64 category at the 2011 Olympic Distance ITU 
World Championships in Beijing 2011.

• Triathlon SA successfully hosted the Australian National Duathlon Championships in the Barossa valley in 
conjunction with the Triathlon Australia AgM.

• Triathlon SA hosted a vibrant calendar of events giving athletes the opportunity to travel to all parts of the 
state. The newest event being Ceduna in the far west of SA.

• Long Standing Executive Officer Karen O’Brien resigned after giving 3 years of valuable service to the sport. 
Triathlon SA will now undertake the appointment of a full-time Executive Officer to grow the sport in SA.

HIgHLIgHTS fROM TRIATHLON SA



Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2011-2012

www.triathlon.org.au | 27

Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2011-2012

HIgHLIgHTS fROM TRIATHLON TAS

• Some great race results from Tasmanian athletes across an array of events including the New Zealand 70.3 
triathlon, Ironman Melbourne and Ironman Australia (Port Macquarie).

• The Rocket Science Sports Triathlon Tasmania State series was a great success with increased numbers in 
all the events this year. The Seven Mile Beach and Coles Bay events went very close to maximum number 
of competitors for their respective road permits and sanctioning, and both had a number of “mainlanders” 
competing, enjoying the experience and indicating that they will be back.

• The Devonport Triathlon hosted the Oceania ITU Championships and with Olympic spots on the line.Our media 
partner, Southern Cross, provided great coverage and advertising support for the state series.

• James Hodge was a worthy winner of the male Tasmanian Triathlete of the year with exceptional performances 
at all race distances, including a win at the Bussleston Half Ironman. Holly Claridge was an equally worthy 
winner of the female Triathlete of the years with great performances in the state series, and on the mainland 
and a word championship long course result. 

• Tasmanian juniors have performed well, with Jake Birtwhistle and Natalea Smith named in the Triathlon 
Australia National Talent Academy and in contention for selection in the Australian Junior ITU World 
Championships team.

• Triathlon Tasmania sent a junior team to the inaugural Triathlon Australia Australian Youth Triathlon 
Championships held on the sunshine coast. The team performed well and represented their state with pride, 
with Natalea Smith gaining a podium position in the girls 17-18 year group. 

• Sport and Recreation Tasmania again provided great support and increased our grant in the 2012 calendar 
year. This support will ensure continued development of programs for officials, and members.

• We have continued to train Technical Officials and now have a number of Level 2 TOs with our training 
programs of the highest quality, thanks Suzie Bower our Technical Chair. 

• The Tri Tas Dinner and Awards Evening on the 21st April was a great occasion and allowed us to celebrate the 
season in great style. Tim Smith was a worthy winner of the fairbrother Award, our most prestigious award, 
reflecting his work in grassroots junior programs.

•    TryStars training days which were open to juniors aged between 7-13 years were held in each of the regions 
this year. This provided a ‘taste’ of each of the triathlon legs and the opportunity for juniors to mix with their 
peers.
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• In 2011-2012 Trivic membership increased by 8% to 1,487 recovering from a modest decline in 2010-2011.

• The racing calendar was a full book with races being held nearly every weekend of the season. Up to 35,000 
participants raced across the 126 sanctioned events held in 2011-2012.

• In partnership with a number of our affiliated clubs the Brooks Duathlon series was held over the winter 
months. Attracting up to 220 participants per event, this race series has potential to become an integral part 
of winter training for victorian Athletes.

• The wide range of multisport events available in victoria provided opportunities for all levels and racing 
preferences. from the Weetbix Kids Events through to IM Melbourne there was something for everyone. The 
arrival of Ironman racing to metropolitan Melbourne provided a positive media focus on Triathlon in victoria. 
IM Melbourne also provided an opportunity for our clubs and squads to become involved in the event with 17 
clubs manning the IM aid stations.

• Under the guidance of Dave Huggett and his team our Triathlon victoria Development Programme continued to 
build on the good work of previous years. The result was the most successful season ever for the programme. 
The victorian boys won all the ITU National series races and winning the Trans-Tasman cup in Devonport – the 
first time for Victorian boys.     

• victoria had 3 boys and 3 girls in the top 15 at both Canberra and Devonport junior series races. The under 16 
boys finished 1st and 2nd at the Canberra age group event.

             
• Notable performances and a silver team medal at the inaugural Australian Youth Triathlon Championships held 

in Mooloolaba.

• The appointment of Jan Rehula and subsequently Peter Robertson to the NTA role for victoria and Tasmania 
has only added further value to the TvDP. They have also assisted in aligning the squad more closely to our 
vIS programme.  

• Triathlon victoria continued its successful relationship with the vIS. There are currently 4 full scholarship 
Triathletes in training at the vIS. Two of these athletes, Erin Densham and Brendan Sexton were selected to 
represent Australia at the london Olympics.

• There was overall growth in club membership of 11% to 34 clubs. There was particularly strong growth in a 
number of regional areas.

• Trivic delivered a series of level one coaching courses. These two day courses were facilitated by Ryan Mannix 
and a team of quality presenters. Over 60 participants benefited from these courses in 2011-2012.TriVic also 
secured state government funding to run subsidised regional coaching courses in the coming year.

• There was a changing of the guard at the top with Don larkin stepping down as Trivic President. Don has 
guided Trivic as President for the last three years and leaves with our sincere thanks for his contribution to 
Triathlon victoria. Current serving board member Anthony Burke has taken on the role of President.

• In february Trivic relocated from frankston to Hampton. The move sees Trivic more centrally located to the 
Beach Road heart of triathlon racing in Melbourne.

HIgHLIgHTS fROM TRIATHLON VIC
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• WA enjoyed its highest membership season in history with a 15.2% increase from the previous year and 
strong participation figures with close to 20,000 race participants across the season.

• Triathlon WA’s event calendar included 12 State Series Races and 36 official open sanctioned races. In 
addition, clubs hosted 132 TA sanctioned events in WA during the season.

• Strong progression of the junior development pathways and the Triathlon Excellence Program (TEP) with 
noted improvements in race results and skill development within the TEP athletes and numerous international 
successes in recent times. Congratulation to WA athletes Jaz Hedgeland and Kenji Nener who respectively 
achieved first and second places as the National Junior Athletes of the Year. 

• Eight SunSmart regional kids’ triathlons were held in regional areas including Kalgoorlie, Esperance, Albany, 
Bunbury, Busselton, Boddington and Rockingham with an increase in participation numbers in all the events. 

• The Technical Official Program has been well supported this season with courses assisting in the recruitment of 
a few more volunteers into their field. 

• The SunSmart Ironman 70.3 Busselton Triathlon 2012 sold out in a record time of 4 hours. Almost 2,800 
people participated either as an individual or as a team over the day with 11,000 spectators taking to 
Busselton to give support to all the participants. WA athlete felicity Sheedy-Ryan took gold in the pro female 
field. 

• The 27th year of the WA State long Course Championship Triathlon held in Busselton - the home to these 
championships for the past 11 years.

• Triathlon WA partnered with Sanitarium Weet-Bix to deliver a series of school visits to promote the sport of 
triathlon, our affiliated clubs and the Weet-Bix kids events. Professional triathletes Kate Bevilaqua and Guy 
Crawford happily partnered with TWA to engage over 2600 school kids across 17 schools in the metropolitan 
area of Perth. 200-300 kids packed into the one gym role playing an “on the spot triathlon” game.  

• Triathlon WA hosted the Annual Awards Dinner at the Royal Perth Yacht Club with a beautiful backdrop of the 
City of Perth. Over 180 attendees enjoy an evening recognising and celebrating our annual awards winners. 

• Triathlon WA underwent a restructure, and now has a team of 7 professional, enthusiastic staff reporting to the 
Tri WA Board.

HIgHLIgHTS fROM TRIATHLON WA
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COMMITTEE REPORTS
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The Age group Committee is appointed by the 
Triathlon Australia Board from the 1st of July to the 
30th of June each year. The key responsibilities of the 
Age group Committee include:

1. To consult with Age group athletes on the full range 
of issues affecting their participation in  the sport of 
triathlon.

2. To decide on appropriate arrangements for Age 
group competitors at World Championships  
including:
 
 • Travel and accommodation options;
 • Medical and para-medical services; 
 • Bike mechanical services; 
 • Social events and / or team dinner; 
 • Uniforms – racing and casual.

3. To develop a budget for age group participation in 
World Championships.

A large number of Australian age group athletes were 
selected to compete around the world at the 2011 
International Triathlon Union World Triathlon and 
Duathlon Championships:

• 139 Australian Olympic distance athletes competed on 
the 11 September 2010 in Changping District, Beijing.

• 89 Australian Sprint distance athletes competed on 
the 10 September 2011 in Changping District, Beijing.

• 18 Australian Duathlon athletes competed on the 25 
September 2010 in gijo’n, Spain.

• 61 Australian long distance athletes competed on the 
5 November 2011, Nevada, USA.

The Age group Committee determined the 2011 
Australian age group team athlete contributions as 
noted below:  

Olympic distance athletes contributed $368.00, 
including the event entry fee of $210.00 towards their 
participation at the 2011 International Triathlon Union 
World Triathlon Championships. The athlete’s services 
contribution also included the provision for a team 
manager, team bike mechanic, administration costs and 
international travel insurance.

Sprint distance athletes contributed $300.00, 
including the event entry fee of $145.00 towards their 
participation at the 2010 International Triathlon Union 

World Triathlon Championships. The athlete’s services 
contribution also included the provision for a team 
manager, team bike mechanic, administration costs and 
international travel insurance.

Duathlon athletes contributed $347.05, including the 
event entry fee of $190.00 towards their participation at 
the 2010 International Triathlon Union World Duathlon 
Championships. The athlete services contribution also 
included the provision of administration costs and 
international travel insurance.

long distance athletes contributed $519.25.00, 
including the event entry fee of $335.00 towards their 
participation at the 2010 International Triathlon Union 
World Triathlon Championships. The athlete’s services 
contribution also included the provision for a team 
manager, administration costs and international travel 
insurance.

The Age group Committee also discussed a number of 
matters affecting age group athletes within Australia 
including:

 • Athlete contribution and services for the 2012 
Australian age group teams travelling to the 2012 
International Triathlon Union World Championships

 • The Triathlon Australia member database and 
website

 • The recognition of Australian age group 
representatives

 • Process for member questions and feedback 

 • Recognition of National Championship Series 
Champions and National Title Race Championships

 

AgE gROUP WORlD 
CHAMPIONSHIPS COMMITTEE
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The Awards Committee was established as a Board 
Sub-Committee for the 2011-2012 season. The purpose 
of this committee is to establish and maintain a list of 
Awards to be presented by Triathlon Australia on an 
annual basis, and to establish a nomination and voting 
process to support each award.

One of the main objectives of the committee in its 
first year was to re-establish a process for inducting 
individuals into the Triathlon Australia Hall of fame 
(TAHOf). given that only one induction had occurred 
in 2009, it was considered by the Committee that 
given the decades of the sports existence in Australia 
there was a significant backlog of potential candidates. 
The committee determined that when addressing the 
backlog the primary focus for 2011/2012 should be on 
inducting elite competitors into the TAHOf.

The committee initially made nominations and reviewed 
the eligibility of nominees for induction to the TAHOf. 
After assessing nominees, the committee put forward 
their recommendations to the Board for approval of 
those persons to be inducted into the TAHOf. This 
resulted in the subsequent ratification of nominations 
and the induction of Emma Carney, loretta Harrop and 
Jackie gallagher into the Hall of fame.

The Committee will continue to review current awards 
and offer advice on changes to their established 
processes to ensure appropriate governance is in place 
for selection of all award categories including; the 
John Ison award for Technical Officials; a President’s 

Special Recognition award; life Membership; lifetime 
Achievement; and Coaching awards as well as the Elite 
Athlete Awards which include; Individual Performance 
of the Year for both male and female; the Chris Hewitt 
Emerging Athlete award; and the Athletes Athlete of the 
Year award.

In its first year of operation, the committee 
achieved the following outcomes:

• Collation, review and nomination of three persons 
to the Triathlon Australia Hall of fame;

• Review of coaching awards/John Ison Award/life 
Membership/lifetime achievement;

• Preparation of Triathlon Australia National Awards 
and Recognition framework Document to outline 
the various award and recognition processes that 
Triathlon Australia will employ in order to reward 
and recognise those athletes and individuals that 
have recorded outstanding achievements or have 
made an outstanding contribution to the sport of 
triathlon in Australia at any level;

• Preparation of an additional nomination to Sports 
Australia Hall of fame. 

AWARDS COMMITTEE
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COMMUNICATION 
COMMITTEE
The Communication Committee was recently established in february 2012. The purpose the Communication 
Committee is to consider and recommend strategic initiatives with respect to the Association’s marketing, 
corporate partnerships, communication, web-based initiatives and social media presence, and to oversee the 
execution and implementation of agreed strategies and action plans.

Over the course of the year, the committee have conducted several teleconference meetings and discussed at a 
broad level the communication activities of the organisation, and advised on how these should be developed. 

Since its establishment, the provided advice and guidance to Triathlon Australia on the following activities:

 • A comprehensive communication strategy. The committee convened a face to face workshop meeting 
in Brisbane in March with several committee members present to work on developing a comprehensive 
communication strategy for the association. This involved identifying key stakeholder groups, and strategies to 
engage with these groups.

 • Development of template press releases and guidelines to enable clubs and athletes to gain more media 
attention particularly at a local level.

 • Media monitoring activities. Triathlon Australia now uses a media monitoring service to track online media 
attention around the world. The committee has provided guidance on how to collate and utilise use this 
information effectively.

 • The committee has conducted in-depth discussion into the various initiatives TA could implement to 
increase the profile and awareness of the sport, and the brand of Triathlon Australia such as an athlete 
ambassador program, television content generation and broadcast opportunities, athlete agreements to 
incorporate media obligations and ideas for partnership and sponsorship engagement.
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ElITE ATHlETES’ COMMISSION

for the first time in many years, an Elite 
Athletes’ Commission was formed in february 
2012.  The primary role of the Commission is 
to provide leadership and direction on matters 
directly relating to Elite Athletes and to advise 
the Board on matters of relevance to elite 
athletes. 

As per the Constitution, athletes with a 
Professional licence were invited to elect four 
of their peers as their representatives.  This 
resulted in the following individuals being 
elected:

 • Joshua Amberger
 • Erin Densham
 • Annabel luxford
 • Chris McCormack

The four elected members were then required to 
elect a former elite athlete as a fifth member of 
the Commission.  
Bryce Quirk was elected to fill this role and 
Annabel luxford was elected by the Commission 
members as their Chair.  

Although the athletes were busy with 
international racing commitments between 
february and June, they met by teleconference 
to discuss several matters including the scope 
of their work, Athlete Agreements and  support 
for elite athletes.  They planned to undertake a 
review of the draft High Performance plan in the 
early part of the next financial year.        
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ElITE SElECTION COMMITTEE
The purpose of the Triathlon Australia Elite Athlete 
Selection Committee (TAESC) is to ensure that the 
selection of elite Australian triathlon teams for ITU draft 
legal and long distance races is robust, consistent and 
conducted with integrity, and to ensure appropriate 
selection policies and procedures are in place for elite 
Australian triathlon teams. 

The key responsibilities of the TAESC for 2011/2012 
were:

• To recommend to the TA board, the membership of 
elite, under-23 and junior Australian triathlon teams 
for the following events:

- 2011 ITU ElITE WORlD CHAMPIONSHIP  SERIES 
gRAND fINAl

- 2011 ITU UNDER 23 AND 2010 ITU JUNIOR 
WORlD CHAMPIONSHIPS

- 2011 ITU lONg DISTANCE WORlD 
CHAMPIONSHIPS

- 2011 ITU WORlD DUATHlON CHAMPIONSHIPS

• To review and draft 2011 and 2012 selection 
policies for the national teams and recommend such 
policies to the TA board for adoption.

• To review the Triathlon 2012 london Olympic 
games Nomination Policy in consultation with the 
Australian Olympic Committee.

• To keep the Olympic shadow team members up 
to date with where each individual athlete was 
with regards performance against the nomination 
criteria.

• To recommend to the TA board athletes who had 
either achieved automatic nomination or nomination 
through early discretion for the 2012 london 
Olympic games.  

• Upon request, to provide advice to the National 
Performance Director on the selection of elite, 
under-23 and junior elite Australian triathlon teams 
to events other than those listed above, which 

included the ITU World Series, ITU World Cups, ITU 
Continental Championships and Continental Cups. 

• To present information relating to the selection 
of the above teams to the TA Appeals Tribunal as 
required. 

• To present to the TA board other specific nomination 
criteria for teams, squads and individuals for 
programs within the TA high performance program, 
such as the AIS and NTA programs.

• As an Olympic year 2012 was the culmination of 
the four year process for the selection of Australia’s 
representatives to the london Olympics.  Australia 
qualified the three maximum representative spots 
in both the men and the women.  The selection 
process was difficult with a number of eligible 
athletes qualifying and vying for the limited 
qualified spots.  This was particularly so for the 
women.  The TAESC’s focus was ensuring that 
proper process was followed at all times in the 
application of the selection policies. An appeal 
during the selection process upheld Triathlon 
Australia’s processes. 

While the selection process was a very challenging time 
for all of the athletes involved, their professional and 
exemplary conduct throughout the process and the 
Olympic campaign reflected highly on them personally 
and the sport of triathlon.

There were lessons learnt from the 2012 process for 
future selection processes and this will be included by 
Triathlon Australia in a post Olympic review.

Thanks are expressed to all those that volunteered their 
time as part of the TAESC or provided assistance to the 
committee.
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HIgH PERfORMANCE 
COMMITTEE
The High Performance Committee provides strategic 
input to the High Performance Plan and monitoring of the 
High Performance Program.

During 2011 - 2012, the Committee was chaired by 
Miles Stewart and provided a broad cross section of 
perspectives through it’s membership of a Triathlon 
Australia Board member (Michelle gallen until April and 
then Michael Maroney), the AIS Deputy Director, (Phil 
Borgeaud),  ASC Director of Sport Programs, (greg 
Nance), a representative of the SIS / SAS network 
(Clare Prideaux of NSWIS), a former elite athlete 
(Melissa Ashton- garard) and a former elite coach (Ben 
gathercole). 

Over the course of the year, the High Performance 
Committee considered and made recommendations on 
the following issues:

• The outcomes of the 2010 High Performance 
Review, and the implementation of the review’s key 
recommendations.

• Approval and monitoring of the 2011 - 2012 HP 
budget.

• Establishment of the National Talent Academy, 
the aim of which is to make our athlete and coach 
pathways more robust by providing the essential 
(and previously missing) link between State 
Development programs and SIS / SAS programs.  
The role of the NTA is also to identify and nurture 
talented athletes and to manage talent transfer 
programs from other sports.

• Development of the job description and recruitment 
of four National Talent Coaches to provide leadership 
to the National Talent Academy across four 
geographical regions - NSW/ ACT,  Qld/NT,  vic / Tas 
and  WA/ SA.

• Development of the job description and recruitment 
of the National Manager, Coach Development to 
ensure a robust and effective development pathway 
is available for high performance triathlon coaches.

• Monitoring of achievement against the KPIs and 
deliverables of the 2011 - 2016 HP Plan.

• Strategic input to the development of the 2013 - 
2020 HP Plan.
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NATIONAl OPERATINg 
MODEl COMMITTEE
The National Operating Model was constituted for the first time during the year to guide progress towards a 
more collaborative, whole of sport approach to achieving triathlon’s national objectives.  

The committee was chaired by David ferrier and was comprised by the Presidents of each of the State and 
Territory Triathlon Associations.  

The key objectives of the committee were to develop a Memorandum of Understanding between the national 
association and the eight state / territory associations, and to enhance the consistency and value of member 
services across the country.  

In february, the committee participated in a two day workshop in Melbourne, hosted by an external facilitator and 
also attended by the eight State Executive Officers.  The workshop resulted in the identification of  key objectives 
and a timeline for implementation. The rationale and objectives were then communicated to the Board of each 
STTA by a personal visit to seven of the STTAs by David ferrier and Anne gripper. 

The strategic work of the committee was supported at the operational level by the STTA Executive Officers working 
closely with the CEO of Triathlon Australia to increase the consistency of member services and organisational 
efficiencies.  

The committee was successful in achieving a common membership fee structure consisting of six membership 
categories.  For the first time, membership categories and fees were the same, regardless of which state 
association the member joined.  In several cases, the annual membership fee for 2011-2012 was lower than 
previous years.  In order to promote club membership, the fees for club members were significantly less than 
those who were not members of a club.
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NATIONAl TECHNICAl  
COMMITTEE
Olympic years are always exciting and busy on 
all fronts and triathlon is no different.  TA Technical 
Officials support over 400 events across Australia 
both on the field of play and during the sanctioning 
process. Triathlon Australia Technical Officials and the 
National Technical Committee devote an enormous 
amount of time and energy in providing the highest 
level of services to the triathlon community throughout 
Australia and internationally.

Projects in progress or completed during the 2010-2011 
season:

• Completion of the NOAS level 2 course material 
and subsequent delivery across Australia to 
progressing level 1’s and level 2 wishing to 
maintain currency.  The courses have been well 
accepted and better prepare our officials for more 
senior roles.

• Completion of the NOAS level 3 course material 
with the first course delivered in August 2012.  
Well received by participants with course material 
relevant and aligned with the NTO/ITO l1 material

• ITU Accreditation of the Triathlon Australia Technical 
Programme. This is a major achievement for all 
involved over many years.  The ITU has accredited 
only 4 other countries.  This means that the 
Australian programme has a clear multi-level 
development path with clearly defined deliverables 
at each level.  Australia is now also permitted to 
train officials to ITO Level 1 and submit the names 
directly to the ITU.

• Revision and corrections to the TA National 
Sanctioning form and concurrent updating of the 
TA Sanctioning Policy and associated Work flow 

document.

• TA Website Technical Officials page.  The TA website 
has a log in for all Level 2 and above officials to 
access all current materials needed to perform 
their role.  This avoids officials using out-dated 
documentation.

• Continued training and development of new and 
existing technical officials.

• Ongoing risk management and event assessment 
by senior technical officials as part of the 
sanctioning process for events falling under the TA 
Banner.

STRUCTURAl CHANgES TO THE NTC

All the hard work has paid off. We are proud to 
announce the addition of a paid staff member to 
support both the Technical and Events portfolio for 
Triathlon Australia. Troy Watson started with TA early in 
the year and has officially taken on the Secretary and 
Director of Officials roles within the NTC.  

The new structure has meant that these two volunteer 
positions have been dissolved as of July 1st 2012.  
final appointees to these positions, Bernard Page 
and Murray Hilder were acknowledged at the 2012 
TA Annual Conference (run concurrently with the TA 
NTC conference) with Awards of Recognition for their 
contribution over the years to the National programme. 
Troy’s new role does extend past the Secretary and 
Director of Officials role. He is already having a positive 
impact on the programme and is a very valued member 
of the team.
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STATISTICS
2011/2012 TECHNICAL OffICIAL ACCREDITATION LEVEL BREAKDOWN

ACT NSW NT QlD SA TAS vIC WA TOTAl
lEvEl 1 - (75%) 17 61 8 126 13 39 50 32 346
lEvEl 2 - (15%) 7 14 0 13 3 3 6 11 57
lEvEl 3 - (7%) 1 3 0 4 1 0 4 2 15
NTO - (3%) 3 3 0 4 1 0 1 3 15
TOTAl 28 81 8 147 18 42 61 48 433
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It is with much pleasure and honour that we present 
first report as a Paratriathlon Committee for the 
Triathlon Australia annual report, particularly in this 
Paralympic year. Since its inception, the Paratriathlon 
Committee has been focused on developing 
paratriathlon in Australia. As a result the paratriathlon 
team that will compete at the 2012 Auckland World 
Championships will be the largest representation since 
the gold Coast in 2009.

With the announcement of paratriathlon to be included 
into the Paralympic games in Rio de Janeiro 2016, 
Triathlon Australia has responded to the task of further 
developing the sport of paratriathlon at all levels from 
participation through to high performance and hence 
a number of milestones have been achieved in such a 
short time.

The establishment of the paratriathlon committee 
has enjoyed and shall continue to prosper with the 
experience of Michael Milton and lindy Hou. Both bring 
a wealth of expertise and passion to the sport. The 
committee has also been very fortunate to develop a 
close working relationship with Australian Paralympic 
Committee representatives genevieve McMahon and 
Michael Hartung; their knowledge of the greater sport 
environment provides Triathlon Australia the guidance it 
needs to construct the support for future endeavours

Michael flynn, as always has delivered the High 
Performance vision to ensure paratriathlon is integrated 

into the existing program. Mark Williamson is also 
acknowledged as providing the participation structure 
to bring paratriathlon into the mainstream through the 
TriDis program. 

A focus for paratriathlon has been to develop 
the structure necessary to conduct classification. 
Classification by definition provides a foundation for 
competition by ensuring a paratriathlete’s impairment 
is relevant to their performance in the sport and that 
the paratriathlete competes equitably and fairly with 
other paratriathletes. Classification is a major factor 
that complements paratriathlon and is an essential 
element for the program and competition. During April 
a successful partriathlon seminar was staged in Sydney 
as part of the ITU WCS event.  The seminar provided 
an excellent insight into the history and structure of 
paratriathlon, classification, the classifier development 
pathway and the specific rules relating to paratriathlon. 
The seminar provided the much needed information 
to develop the necessary tools for the future direction 
of the sport. Again Triathlon Australia owes its sincere 
appreciation to the APC for making the seminar 
possible. 

There are currently six classifications for physically 
challenged athletes who compete over the sprint 
paratriathlon distance of 750m swim, 20km bike 
(handcycle/tandem), 5km run (wheelchair). Whilst 
there are other distances and events on offer nationally 
and globally, the sprint distance will no doubt be a 
focus as is the recognised event in Rio 2016. As we 

PARATRIATHlON COMMITTEE
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draw closer towards 2016, paratriathlon will become 
even more popular, however the committee is driven 
to ensure there are opportunities for all distances, the 
associated structure and consistent delivery across the 
stream. 

The journey continues. It such an exciting time and the 
committee continues to deliver the necessary outcomes 
both locally, and to an international level, throughout 
the next Olympiad.
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PARTICIPATION COMMITTEE

The role of the Participation Committee is to monitor and advise on the implementation of the Participation Plan 
2011 - 2016.  

The Committee consists of Triathlon Australia staff working in participation and representatives of the Australian 
Sports Commission, two State and Territory Associations (ACT and victoria) and a State Department of Sport and 
Rec (Western Australia).  

The committee met twice during the year - the first time to assist in the finalisation of the plan and the second 
time to receive reports on the various programs and activities outlined in the plan including progress in the 
development of a national Trystars program for young athletes, and the TryDis program for athletes with 
disabilities.  

The committee also reviewed  progress on the community and club coaching training and development program 
and the enhancement of services and recognition of age group athletes.
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The purpose of the Committee is:

To ensure the successful technical conduct of the 
Sydney leg of the ITU World Championship Series 
race, the associated age group race and any extension 
events.

To advise the Board of Triathlon Australia on matters 
pertaining to the effective discharge of Triathlon 
Australia’s responsibilities under the Agreement with 
the ITU and Destination NSW:
license and Hosting Agreement for 2010, 2011 
and 2012 “Dextro Energy Triathlon – ITU World 
Championship Series” Sydney Event.
 
During the year, the committee achieved the following 
outcomes:

• The preparation and endorsement of key documents 
supporting the Sydney event including a new 
course design to alleviate the much criticised traffic 
congestion encountered in 2011, budget, marketing 
and communication plan and the sponsorship plan.

• The monitoring of preparations for the Sydney 
event including liaison and agreements with NSW 
government agencies, race day infrastructure 
requirements, budget forecast and invoicing 
arrangements, Age group Race entry process

• liaison with NSW State government Departments 
through the Department of Premier and Cabinet, On 
matters concerning the operational impact of the 
delivery of the event. 

To help minimise the traffic issues encountered in 2011 
the Event was held across 2 days for the first time and 
the Elite Athletes course was changed substantially 
from previous years.
Judging by the feedback from all government 
Departments the changes achieved their objectives 
but did not detract from either the Elite or Age group 
Events which, by all measures, were extremely 
successful.

The Race Committee would like to congratulate 
USM Events, and in particular David Ray, for the 
very professional manner in which they, not only 
administered the successful staging of the Events, but 
also the way they were able to negotiate the changes 
necessary to ensure that success.

SYDNEY ITU WORlD CHAMPIONSHIP 
SERIES RACE COMMITTEE 
COMMITTEE
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fEATURES
ElITE ATHlETE PERfORMANCES

NATIONAl TAlENT ACADEMY

2011 NATIONAl TRIATHlON CONfERENCE

NATIONAl DUATHlON CHAMPIONSHIPS

NATIONAl SPRINT DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS

NATIONAl lONg DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS

NATIONAl OlYMPIC DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS

NATIONAl DEvElOPMENT CAMP

NATIONAl JUNIOR TRIATHlON SERIES

AUSTRAlIAN YOUTH TRIATHlON CHAMPIONSHIPS

CElEBRATION Of CHAMPIONS ANNUAl AWARDS DINNER
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ElITE 
ATHlETE 
PERfORMANCES
THE fOLLOWINg RESULTS ARE JUST SOME Of 

THE ExCELLENT PERfORMANCES ATTAINED BY 

AUSTRALIAN TRIATHLETES IN BOTH ITU AND WTC 

ELITE EVENTS IN 2011. 

THE SUCCESS Of THESE ATHlETES AND All Of THE OTHER 

gREAT PERfORMANCES lEAvES AUSTRAlIA WITH A SOlID 

fOUNDATION ON WHICH TO lAUNCH THEIR ATTACK ON THE 

lONDON OlYMPIC gAMES PARTICUlARlY WITHIN THE fEMAlE 

PROgRAM. 

WITH THE RISE IN EUROPEAN PERfORMANCES ACROSS All 

AgES AND gENDERS, AUSTRAlIA WIll HAvE TO WORK HARDER 

AND SMARTER TO STAY AMONgST THE lEADINg NATIONS.

MICHAEl flYNN

NATIONAl PERfORMANCE DIRECTOR
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2011 ELITE ATHLETE 
PERfORMANCES
CRAIg ALExANDER
2011 TRIATHlON AUSTRAlA MAlE 
PERfORMANCE Of THE YEAR
1st Ironman World Championships
1st 70.3 World Championships

MIRINDA CARfRAE 
2nd Hawaii Ironman World Championships
2nd Ironman NZ
5 top 3 results in other 70.3 races 

BILL CHAffEY 
1st ITU World Championships Para triathlon 

ASHLEIgH gENTLE (UNDER 23)
9th ITU london World Series
5th ITU lausanne World Series
24th ITU World series overall 
1st ITU Edmonton World Cup
1st ITU Mooloolaba Continental Cup
3rd ITU Oceania Championships, Wellington 

EMMA JACKSON
2nd ITU Hamburg World Series
2nd ITU lausanne World Series Sprint Champs
4th ITU london World Series
5th ITU Yokohama World Series
12th ITU World Series final, Beijing
4th ITU World Series Overall 

PETE JACOBS 
2nd Ironman World Championships
1st Ironman Australia
2 Top 3 results in other 70.3 races 

BRAD KAHLEfELDT 
1st ITU Hamburg World Series
5th ITU Kitzbuhel World Series
8th ITU london World Series
1st ITU Mooloolaba World Cup
10th ITU World Series Overall

EMMA MOffATT 
1st ITU Hamburg World Series
2nd ITU Yokohama World Series
4th ITU Kitzbuhel World Series
11th ITU World Series final, Beijing
7th ITU World Series Overall
2nd ITU Mooloolaba World Cup

MELISSA ROLLINSON
2011 TRIATHlON AUSTRAlIA fEMAlE 
PERfORMANCE Of THE YEAR
1st 70.3 World Championships
1st 70.3 Asia Pacific Championships
3 wins in other 70.3 races

EMMA SNOWSILL 
3rd ITU Hamburg World Series
5th ITU london World Series
13th ITU World Series Overall

2011 ITU WORLD 
CHAMPIONSHIP RESULTS
2011 BeIjIng, ChIna

ElITE fEMAlE
Emma Moffatt (AIS/QAS) – 11th  
Emma Jackson (AIS/QAS) – 12th 
felicity Abram (AIS/QAS) – 13th 
Emma Snowsill (AIS/QAS) – 17th 
felicity Sheedy-Ryan (WAIS) –DNf

ElITE MAlE
Chris McCormack – 31st
Courtney Atkinson (AIS/QAS) – DNf
Brad Kahlefeldt (AIS/QAS) – DNf

UNDER 23 MAlE
Aaron Royle (NSWIS) – 14th 
Peter Kerr (vIS) – 26th      
Mitch Robins – 49th 

JUNIOR fEMAlE
Ashlee Bailie (NSWIS) – 2nd 
Natalie van Coevorden (NSWIS) – 18th 
Tamsyn Moana-veale (NSWIS) – 20th 

JUNIOR MAlE
Matt Brown (QAS) – 5th 
Jack Hickey (QAS) – 12th 
Scott llewellyn – 31st 
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NATIONAl TAlENT ACADEMY
The 2011/2012 year has been a very busy, 
productive and exciting period with many challenges, 
successful outcomes and outstanding opportunities 
moving forward for Triathlon Australia’s emerging elite 
athletes. The most significant achievements in this 
period was easily the establishment of the National 
Talent Academy (NTA) including the recruitment of four 
National Talent Coaches and the induction of the first 
ten athletes into the NTA program.

The newly formed National Talent Academy represents 
the single biggest expansion of staff and financial 
investment by Triathlon Australia into the performance 
development pathway in the history of Australian 
triathlon.

The NTA was born from the high performance reviews 
which indentified a clear gap in the development 
pathway between existing state junior development 
programs and SIS/SAS programs.

The NTA is designed to be the key link between these 
two programs with a view to fast track genuine talent 
and talent transfer athletes into SIS/SAS scholarship 
programs. 

The first step in establishing the NTA was the 
recruitment of four National Talent Coaches which 
involved a strong and rigorous recruitment process with 
input from all STTA’s including representation on the 
interview panel. The coaches that have been appointed 
have all had international elite coaching experience 
as well as some with Olympic and/or Commonwealth 
games experience as either a coach, athlete or both.

The automatic and discretionary qualification 
criteria into the NTA were set high to ensure the 

very best talent with the attributes to be successful 
elite triathletes were indentified and developed in 
conjunction with the athletes home coaches. following 
the completion of the 2012 race season and National 
Performance Standard (NPS) time trial windows, the 
NTA inducted its first intake of ten athletes in Sydney 
during the ITU World Triathlon Series weekend. 

The inaugural induction of athletes were welcomed into 
the NTA by the current President of Triathlon Australia, 
Mr Peter Hedge. The NTA athletes had the opportunity 
to observe the ITU World Triathlon Series Sydney race, 
spend time with the Olympic shadow team on Sydney 
harbour, hear motivational talks on winning from 
Olympians Peter Robertson and Craig Walton, complete 
a number of training sessions, and received special 
invitations to attend the Triathlon Australia Celebration 
of Champions Annual Awards dinner. 

Triathlon Australia is also pleased that giant 
Bicycles Australia have formed an exciting and new 
partnership with the NTA program. The agreement will 
see giant fully equip all athletes accepted into the NTA 
program with fully maintained giant TCR Advanced 
carbon fibre racing bikes and NTA cycling kit & helmets. 

The NTA would like to extend sincere appreciation to 
Darren Rutherford and Martin Clucas at giant Bicycles 
for their support of triathlon and importantly their 
strong passion for assisting emerging young talent.
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NATIONAl TAlENT ACADEMY 
COACHES AND ATHlETES 

COACHES
NSW/ACT - Keiran Barry

WA/SA - Chris lang

vIC/TAS - Jan Rehula
Peter Robertson (acting)*

QlD/NT - Craig Walton

ATHLETES
Male female

Jake Birtwhistle TAS - Junior Sarah Deuble QlD – U23

Kenji Nener WA – Junior Jaz Hedgeland WA - Junior
Joel Tobin-White vIC – Junior Bree Jones NSW – Junior

Marcel Walkington vIC – Junior grace Musgrove NSW – U23
Christian Wilson QlD - Junior Natalea Smith TAS – Junior

*Four times world champion and two times Olympian Peter Robertson has operated in an acting 
NTC role for VIC/TAS when Jan Rehula was seconded to fill the vacant VIS Head Coach position 

on the departure of Jono Hall to USA.    



52 | www.triathlon.org.au

Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2011-2012Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2011-2012

NATIONAl CONfERENCE
BUIlDINg OUR BASE - fOUNDATIONS fOR THE fUTURE
24-25 SEPTEMBER 2011
NOvOTEl HOTEl, BRIgHTON BEACH SYDNEY

last year, our national conference looked at the big 
picture, setting our Strategic Plan and sharing our 
vision for the sport of triathlon in Australia. This year 
we went back to the basics of our sport, with a focus 
on grassroots involvement and club development within 
triathlon. 

Recognising that triathlon clubs are the key deliverers 
of grass roots participation activities, we wanted to 
ensure that each and every one of our 185 affiliated 
clubs had the opportunity to attend and provide input 
towards national initiatives. As a way of achieving 
this, Triathlon Australia funded the cost of travel and 
accommodation to the conference for each triathlon 
Club President or their nominated delegate. In addition 
to this, conference registration was open to the general 
public.

Over 120 delegates representing 60 clubs attended the 
conference over the weekend to hear from speakers 
cover topics relevant to the daily management of clubs 
such as;

• Building membership
• Building events
• Building a strong volunteer base
• Building club IT Infrastructure
• Building a volunteer spirit
• Building opportunities for participants with a 

disability
• Building Age group services and recognition

Delegates were involved in an interactive feedback 
session centred around ‘Building Participation’, with 
the focus being the development of the TryStars 
programme. 

The conference also featured success stories from clubs 
who have created vibrant club communities, and put on 
high quality events.
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THE BAROSSA vAllEY DUATHlON
16TH OCTOBER 2011, SA

This year the decision was made to move the event 
to the month of October to ensure more favourable 
weather conditions, and this proved to be a good 
decision as a glorious day greeted the athletes.

The weekend aligned with a number of events as the 
region also hosted a short course duathlon event, the 
Australian Masters games event, and the Triathlon 
Australia Annual general Meeting. The Masters games 
provided a definite boost to the short course event with 
race entrants increasing significantly. The overall event 
participation numbers were up from the first year with a 
total of 240 people competing in the event. 

There was a strong contingent of SA athletes competing 
along with a some quality interstate athletes looking 
to gain points towards qualification into the ITU World 
Duathlon Championships.

In the men’s elite category it was a race of three after 
the first run with local long course athlete Matty White 
alongside Paul Mackay and Tom Bruins. Once they hit 
the climb of Menglers Hill for the first time, White’s 
bike strength showed through as he pulled away from 
Mackay and Bruins. In the end White held on to finish 
first almost 4 minutes ahead of Mackay in second place 
who just edged out Bruins in third place.

In the women’s race victoria’s Bev Thomas led out on to 
the bike from WA’s Rachel Smith with local girl felicity 
lloyd rounding out the top 3. Thomas would not be 
headed all day while lloyd was able to move into 2nd 
on the bike and was then able to hold off a fast finishing 
Smith who came in 3rd. 

One of the standout performances of the day was 
local athlete Nick Muxlow in the 25-29 category whose 
time would have had him finishing 4th overall.  Other 
notable performances were from Anne gripper the CEO 
of Triathlon Australia who made her return to racing 
after a considerable break and noted that the 2nd climb 
up Menglers Hill was a “surprising” experience.  Steve 
Tudjman on a borrowed bike put all his ironman fitness 
to test in the short course.  While Kate gallop from TA 
starred in the 25-29 category taking out first place.

A big thank you goes out to a hard working team that 
put this event on. Also to all the interstate guests of the 
AgM who were happy to help out in various roles.  A 
special thank you must also go to the Executive Officer 
Karen O’Brien and also to our local hero and supporter 
lincoln Shannon who did an enormous amount to make 
this event the success it was. finally thank you to all 
the competitors who came from every state in Australia 
to this truly national event.

NATIONAl DUATHlON 
CHAMPIONSHIPS
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NATIONAl SPRINT 
DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS

The Capital Summer January festival held under clear 
blue skies in the ACT acted as the 2012 Sprint Distance 
National Championship race for our age group athletes.
The weekend-long festival surrounding the National 
Championships was a great event for all the family, 
incorporating round two of the National Junior Series, a 
kid’s race (7-13yrs), a novice race, a lake Swim, a half 
marathon, a cycle race and a 10km run.

The perfect conditions and the flat, fast course provided a 
great racing environment to crown the age group national 
Sprint distance champions, and the event also held double 
points for those athletes who were looking to qualify for 
the 2012 World Championships Age group Team.

Ellie Salthouse and Joel Tobin-White claimed victories in 
round two of the 2012 Australian Junior Triathlon Series. 

geelong Multi Sport festival hosted the URBAN geelong 
ITU Sprint Triathlon Premium Oceania Cup acting as our 
Sprint Distance National Championship race for our elite 
athletes.

Emma Moffatt was back to defend her national sprint 
distance title and dominated the race from the start. 
Putting 30 seconds into rest of the field with a stunning 
opening run lap, Moffatt ran her way to claim an 
impressive ITU race win and another National Champion 
title.

In the men’s race, the young Australian contingent 
including Drew Box, Aaron Royle, Cameron good and 
Jamie Huggett were putting the pressure on the race 
leaders in a hunt which resulted in Drew Box being the 
first Australian to across the line so picking up the National 
Champion title.

THE CAPITAl SUMMER JANUARY fESTIvAl
29TH JANUARY 2012, ACT (AgE gROUP)

THE gEElONg MUlTISPORT fESTIvAl
12TH fEBRUARY 2012, vIC (ElITE)
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NATIONAl lONg
DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
THE 2XU fAllS CREEK TRIATHlON
11TH fEBRUARY 2012, vIC

The large picturesque alpine village of falls Creek 
hosted the Australia long Distance Championship on 
what has been named one of the most spectacular 
triathlon courses in Australia.

The challenging course took the 300 strong field of 
competitors on a 2km one lap swim in Rock valley 
lake, followed by an undulating, 3 lap 80km cycle 
and finishing with a 2 lap 20km run using part of the 
aquaduct  trails and a 200m hill.

The weekend festival also incorporated the victorian 
long Distance Championships, the Brooks falls Creek 
Trail Running festival, and the giant Mountain Bike 
Challenge.

After some anticipated bad weather conditions, race 
day conditions proved to be a pleasant surprise for 
everyone with water temperatures of 15 degrees, next 
to no wind and air temperature hovering between 
seven and eight degrees. 

The elite race start list included a number of the world’s 
faster long distance triathletes including Australian’s 
Joe gambles, luke Bell, Tim Reed, Mitch Anderson, 
and Sydney 2000 Olympics Bronze medalist Jan Rehula 
amongst others in the men’s field with Australia’s 
Madeleine Oldfield and Melissa Rollison in the women’s 
field.

In the men’s race Tim Reed came from behind in the 
swim to chase down a pack of around 7 leaders who 
were ahead out of the water. Reed made it into the lead 
pack on the bike before chasing down luke Bell and Joe 
gambles to claim victory in the race and the National 
Champion title.

In the women’s race World Ironman 70.3 champion 
Melissa Rollison came out of the water a couple of 
meters behind Madeleine Oldfield but proceeded to 
overtake and increase the distance between them over 
the course of the bike and run. Melissa’s impressively 
fast run resulted in her claiming a new female 
course record of around 20 minutes and the National 
Champion title.
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NATIONAl OlYMPIC 
DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
MOOlOOlABA MUlTISPORT fESTIvAl
24-25TH MARCH 2012, QlD

The Olympic Distance National Championship was 
held as part of the infamous Mooloolaba Triathlon 
festival which celebrated its 20th year in 2012. The 
ever growing event is comprised of a three day festival 
program including the first race of the 2012 ITU World 
Cup season, the Age group Olympic Distance race, the 
ITU Premium Oceania Cup, the Asics 5km twilight run, 
an ocean swim, and the Superkidz triathlon.

Over the 3 days of events close to 9,000 competitors 
and approximately 70,000 spectators enjoyed all the 
weekend had to offer along the beautiful coastal town 
of Mooloolaba.

An estimated 30,000 people packed the Mooloolaba 
foreshores on Saturday to watch some of our biggest 
names in the sport racing in the men’s elite ITU World 
Cup event. Courtney Atkinson, Ryan Bailie, Drew Box, 
Cameron good, Jack Hickey, Brad Kahlefeldt, Chris 
McCormack, James Seear and Brendan Sexton made 
up the Australian male contingent on the start line for a 
3pm race start.

After an exciting one lap beach start swim and 7 lap 
bike course, the male race contention dwindled down 
to a select group of five men in the run with Laurent 
vidal (fRS), Brad Kahlefeldt (AUS), David Hauss (fRA), 
Brendan Sexton (AUS) and Mario Mola (ESP) forcing the 
pace at the front of the pack. In the end, it came down 
to a sprint finish with  Laurent Vidal taking first place, 
Brad Kahlefeldt taking second along with the National 
Champion title, and David Hauss coming in third. 
Brendan Sexton also put in an impressive performance 
to come 5th.

In the female race at 12:45 on Sunday Australia’s 
Ashlee Bailie, Erin Densham, Charlotte McShane, 
Emma Moffatt, felicity Sheedy-Ryan and Natalie 
van Coevorden completed the Australian women’s 
contingent fighting for the National title.

Erin Densham put in one of the most impressive 
performances of her career, leading the swim and then 
crushing the field with the day’s only sub-35:00 run 
among the women to win her second career ITU World 
Cup race and National Champion Title. Emma Moffatt 
also posted a top ten finish coming in 9th place.

On Sunday morning nearly 6,000 individual and team 
competitors took part in the Mooloolaba Olympic 

Distance Triathlon. As the centre-piece of the 3 day 
multisport festival, the age group event crowned our 
age group national Olympic distance champions and 
also acted as race 6 of the Olympic Distance qualifying 
series holding double points for those wanting to qualify 
for the 2012 World Championships Age group Team.

Australian triathlete Peter Kerr continued his good form 
with an impressive win, while Sarah Deuble emerged 
as a rising star to claim her first major win at the 
Northside Party Hire ITU Mooloolaba Oceania Cup.
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RUNAWAY BAY, QlD  

18-21 DECEMBER 2011

The annual National Development Camp rep-
resents Triathlon Australia single biggest invest-
ment into the development of Australia’s junior 
athletes and state junior development coaches. 
Held in December each year, the camp receives 
over $35k investment plus the resources of 6 
Triathlon Australia staff and coaches. 

Forty five athletes and 12 coaches were selected 
to attend the 2011 camp. The camp is conducted 
over 3 days at the end of the Super Sprint Race 
Weekend at Runaway Bay on the gold Coast. 

Athletes and coaches were put through their 
paces with time trails, skill acquisition and devel-
opment sessions, guest speakers, lectures and 
other various triathlon based challenges. Once 
again international endurance running Bobby Mc-
gee gave up his valuable time to attend the camp 
and work with athletes and coaches throughout 
the race weekend and the camp.

NATIONAl 
DEvElOPMENT CAMP
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NATIONAl JUNIOR 
TRIATHlON SERIES
The 2011/2012 Australian Junior Triathlon series originally consisted of four races but was reduced to three 
after the withdrawal of the geelong race due to scheduling and road closure issues for the event managers. 

The series winners were determined by a point score based on the athletes best two results out of the three 
national series events. The final event in Devonport, Tasmania doubled as the Australian Junior Triathlon 
Championships as well as the OTU Oceania Junior Triathlon Championships. Therefore, the Devonport race was 
worth double points in the series. 

The 2011-2012 National Junior Series consisted of the following events:

RACE 1
SUPER SPRINT RACE WEEKEND, RUNAWAY BAY QlD

December 2011
WINNERS – Marcel Walkington (VIC) & Bree Jones (NSW)

RACE 2
CANBERRA CAPITAl TRIATHlON fESTIvAl, CANBERRA ACT

January 2012
WINNERS – Joel Tobin-White (VIC) & Ellie Salthouse (QLD)

RACE 3 
AUSTRALIAN & OTU OCEANIA CHAMPIONSHIPS, DEVONPORT TAS

WINNERS Oceania Championships – Marcel Walkington (VIC) & Mikayla Neilsen (NZL)
WINNERS Australian Championships – Marcel Walkington (VIC) & Jaz Hedgeland (WA)

following the completion of the Australian Junior Triathlon Series Marcel Walkington (vIC) and Jaz Hedgeland (WA) 
were crowned the Australian Junior Series Winners and presented at the Celebration of Champions Annual Award 
dinner in Sydney, April 2012. 

2011-2012 NATIONAL JUNIOR TRIATHLON SERIES WINNERS
33 points Marcel Walkington (vIC) 1st Jaz Hedgeland (WA) 27 points
27 points
27 points

Kenji Nener (WA) 
& Joel Tobin-White (VIC)

2nd Mikayla Nielsen (NZl) 22 points

3rd Ellie Salthouse (QlD) 21 points
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AUSTRAlIAN YOUTH 
TRIATHlON CHAMPIONSHIPS
21-23 MARCH 2012, SUNSHINE COAST QlD

This season one key addition to our National Calendar was the inaugural Australian Youth Triathlon 
Championships.

The event was born out of the recognition from Triathlon Australia High Performance coaches of the need to 
expose young athletes to the skills required to compete in draft legal triathlon from an earlier age than the current 
ITU junior category of 16 years of age. 

The event took place in and around the Novotel Twin Waters Resort on the Sunshine Coast (QlD), and included an 
individual race and a mixed team triathlon relay race. All events were conducted in a draft legal race format.

Individual Triathlon Categories/Distances Mixed Relay Team Triathlon Categories/Distance
13 & 14yrs 1998 & 1999  400m/12km/3km 13 - 15 yrs 1997, 1998 & 1999  4 x 200m/4km/1.2km
15 & 16yrs 1996 & 1997  600m/16km/4km 16 - 18 yrs 1994, 1995 & 1996  4 x 200m/4km/1.2km
17 & 18yrs 1994 & 1995  750m/20km/5km

The event was conducted by experienced race director Joe Pearson with volunteer support from the Caloundra 
Triathlon Club. The event was very challenging due to extreme weather conditions causing flooding rains and gale 
force winds, however the athletes raced with an encouraging level of determination and caution throughout the 
event. following the days racing, the athletes had the opportunity to attend an educational session conducted by 
curent and former elite athletes.

INDIvIDUAl TRIATHlON WINNERS
Male Female

Harry  Sweeny (QlD) 13-14yrs Jessica  Hoskin (QlD)
luke  Willian (QlD) 15-16 yrs laura  Cook (NSW)
Shane  Ilgen (NSW) 17-18 yrs Jaz Hedgeland (WA)

MIXED RElAY TEAM TRIATHlON WINNERS
Junior DATS 13-15 yrs Wyatt Westmoreland

Brittany Dutton
Lawrence Garufi

Sophie Malowiecki
Coast to Coast 16-18 yrs Charlie Quin

Jaz Hedgeland
Jordan Mclennan
Brittany forster
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CElEBRATION Of CHAMPIONS 
ANNUAl AWARDS DINNER
15 APRIl 2012, DOlTONE HOUSE SYDNEY

following the success of the inaugural awards dinner 
in 2011, Triathlon Australia once again hosted the 
glistening night of celebration and awards in Sydney 
following the ITU Dextro Energy World Series Sydney 
race.

The evening was held at the Doltone House Jones Bay 
Wharf, a unique heritage venue situated on the historic 
finger wharf at the recently restored Jones Bay Wharf, 
Pyrmont Point. The spectacular waterfront venue on the 
foreshore of Sydney Harbour gave our 300 guests views 
of the Harbour Bridge, city skyline and the Darling 
Harbour precinct.

Our guests enjoyed arrival drinks on the balcony 
and deck entertainment area before moving into the 
stunning main dining hall to enjoy a 3 course meal 
while the entertainment proceeded on the main stage.

True to the ‘Celebration of Champions’ theme of the 
evening, we were privileged to have Australia’s current 
World Champions in attendance; Craig Alexander 
(Australian reigning 2011 Ironman World Champion 
and 2011 70.3 World Champion) and Melissa Rollison 
(Australian reigning 2011 70.3 World Champion). Craig 
and Melissa were awarded with commemorative plaques 
for their achievements by the President of Triathlon 
Australia.

Proceedings of the evening included the Elite Athlete 
Awards, the Australian Junior Series awards, recognition 
of our Australian Age group World and National 
Champions, and presentation of the 2009 John Ison 
Award for TA Technical Official of the Year.

A silent charity auction of signed green and gold 
triathlon suits was held raising $1,500 for the chosen 
charity – the Amy gillett foundation.

The highlight and grand finale of the evening was the 
welcoming of three new inductees into the Triathlon 

Australia Hall of fame. This year we were delighted to 
welcome three of Australia’s most celebrated female 
triathletes; Jackie fairweather (nee gallagher), loretta 
Harrop and Emma Carney into our Hall Of fame. They 
have joined three of triathlon’s legends; greg Welch, 
Miles Stewart and Sydney 2000 Olympic silver medallist 
Michellie Jones in a select group of Australia’s all-time 
greats in the Triathlon Australia Hall of fame.

We would like to thank our Major Sponsor of the 
evening, Bikesure, and our table sponsors; Specialized 
Bicycles, 220 Triathlon Manazine, Active Network, and 
USM Events for their support.

 

ELITE ATHLETE AWARD WINNERS

CHRIS HEWITT EMERgINg ATHlETE AWARD
Ashleigh gentle

INDIvIDUAl PERfORMANCE Of THE YEAR 
AWARD, MAlE
Craig Alexander

INDIvIDUAl PERfORMANCE Of THE YEAR 
AWARD, fEMAlE
Melissa Rollison

ATHlETES ATHlETE Of THE YEAR AWARD
Craig Alexander
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HONOUR BOARD

OLYMPIC gAMES REPRESENTATIVES

Miles Stewart 2000 Michellie Jones (S)

Craig Walton Nicole Hackett
Peter Robertson loretta Harrop

greg Bennett 2004 loretta Harrop (S)

Simon Thompson Rina Hill
Peter Robertson Maxine Seear

Courtney Atkinson 2008 Emma Snowsill (g)

Brad Kahlefeldt Emma Moffatt (S)
Erin Densham

TRIATHLON AUSTRALIA HALL Of fAME INDUCTEES

Emma Carney (2012) 
Jackie fairweather (nee gallagher) (2012)

loretta Harrop (2012)
Michellie Jones (2009)
Miles Stewart (2009)

greg Welch (2009)

TRIATHLON AUSTRALIA LIfE MEMBERS

Dr Jim Hazel

COMMONWEALTH gAMES REPRESENTATIVES

Miles Stewart (S) 2002 Nicole Hackett (B)

Chris McCormack Michellie Jones

Peter Robertson loretta Harrop

Brad Kahlefeldt (g) 2006 Emma Snowsill (g)

Peter Robertson (B) Annabel luxford
Simon Thompson felicity Abram

SPORT AUSTRALIA HALL Of fAME INDUCTEES

greg Welch (2011)
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AUSTRALIAN WORLD CHAMPIONS

ITU TRIATHlON WORlD CHAMPIONS
1990 greg Welch 1999 loretta Harrop

1991 Miles Stewart 2000 Nicole Hackett
1992 Michellie Jones 2001 Peter Robertson
1993 Michellie Jones 2003 Emma Snowsill & Peter Robertson
1994 Emma Carney 2005 Emma Snowsill & Peter Robertson
1996 Jackie gallagher 2006 Emma Snowsill
1997 Emma Carney & Chris McCormack 2009 Emma Moffatt
1998 Joanne King 2010 Emma Moffatt

JOHN ISON AWARD WINNERS

2007
Murray Hilder (NSW)

2008
frank Stapleton (WA) and David Wilkinson (SA)

2009
Jacqui Kenny (QlD)

ITU DUATHlON WORlD CHAMPIONS ITU AQUATHlON WORlD CHAMPIONS
1992 Jenny Alcorn 1998 Rina Hill

1993 greg Welch 1999 Rina Hill
1996 Andrew Noble and Jackie gallagher
1997 Jonathan Hall ITU lONg DISTANCE WORlD CHAMPIONS
1999 Jackie gallagher 1996 greg Welch
2006 Leon Griffin 1998 Rina Hill

2012 Chris McCormack

IRONMAN WORlD CHAMPIONS IRONMAN 70.3 WORlD CHAMPIONS
greg Welch 1994

Michellie Jones 2006 Craig Alexander
Chris McCormack 2007 Mirinda Carfrae
Craig Alexander 2008
Craig Alexander 2009

Chris McCormack & Mirinda Carfrae 2010
Craig Alexander 2011 Craig Alexander & Melissa Rollison
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2011-2012 AUSTRAlIAN
WORlD CHAMPIONS

2011-2012 AUSTRAlIAN
NATIONAl CHAMPIONS

OLYMPIC DISTANCE
ITU WORlD CHAMPIONSHIPS gRAND fINAl 
BEIJINg 2011

SPRINT DISTANCE
ITU WORlD CHAMPIONSHIPS gRAND fINAl 
BEIJINg 2011

Ms Andrena Moore, female 60-64 Ms Jane Mountford, female 60-64
Ms lauren Robertson, female 35-39 Ms Nicky Western, female 40-44
Mr James Hodge, Male 16-19 Mr Clint van Beveren, Male 35-39

Mr luke farrell, Male 16-19

Mr Mick Maroney, Male 45-49

PARA TRIATHLON
ITU WORlD CHAMPIONSHIPS gRAND fINAl 
BEIJINg 2011
Mr Bill Chaffey

IRONMAN WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS
KONA HAWAII, OCTOBER 2011

IRONMAN 70.3
lAS vEgAS HENDERSON, SEPTEMBER 2011

Mr Craig Alexander, Elite Male Mr Craig Alexander, Elite Male
Mr Matt Brown, Male 18-24 Ms Melissa Rollison, Elite female

AUSTRALIAN NATIONAL SERIES CHAMPIONS 2011-2012

NATIONAl DUATHlON SERIES AUSTRAlIAN NATIONAl TRIATHlON 
CHAMPIONSHIPS SERIES

Male Female Male Female
Paul Mackay Bev Thomas Open Matt Williams laura Siddall
Sam Tebeck Anna Bewley

Millie Chapman
Alex White

15-19 grant Melzer Annelise Jefferies

Ben Clohesy Karen Hill 20-24 Nathan Barry Courtney Dutton
Adriano Pavia Amy Callow 25-29 Christophe Manchon Briarna Mackie
Dennis Perry Rebecca O’loughlin 30-34 Stephen Hadley Kate grattan
Andrew fuller Danielle Jolly 35-39 Stephane

 vander Bruggen
lauren Robertson

Mark Partridge Helen Stark 40-44 David Sangster Janelle Ware
Michael Pratt Jo Clippingdale 45-49 Peter foster linda O’Connor
Peter Allcroft Nancy Cullen

 Meridy Dunn
50-54 Tony Duffy Maureen Cummings

Kevin Duffy Jan Daley 55-59 geoffrey Taylor linda Meredith
Witold Krajewski Shirley Bell 60-64 Martin Brigden Christine Walker
Ken Murley Caroline Campbell 65-69 Ken Murley Joan Beecroft
lachlan lewis 70-74 Bernard Crowe
Robert Chapman 75-79 Keith Pearce

Philip Scott
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AUSTRALIAN NATIONAL TITLE RACE CHAMPIONS 2011-2012

SPRINT DISTANCE
CANBERRA JANUARY 2012 AND gEElONg 
fEBRUARY 2012

OlYMPIC DISTANCE 
MOOlOOlABA MARCH 2012

Male Female Male Female
Drew Box Emma Moffatt Elite Brad Kahlefeldt Erin Densham

U23 Matt Brown Sarah Deuble
Marcel Walkington Jaz Hedgeland Junior

Open
Rennie lewis (14-15)
Adam Rudgley (16-19)

freya Aisbit (14-15)
Holly grice (16-19)

15-19 Thomas Miller Annelise Jefferies

David Mainwaring Penny Hosken 20-24 Nathan Barry Courteny Dutton
Robert Skillman Sarah lester 25-29 David Kalinowski Andrea Oracki
Michael Prince Caroline Sweeney 30-34 Peter loveridge Kate grattan
Stephane vander Brug-
gen

Jodie Barker 35-39 Andrew fuller Melinda Cockshutt

Jason Metters Christine Wolfson 40-44 gary Binet Tracey Zammit
Mick Maroney linda O’Connor 45-49 Peter foster linda O’Connor
Kevin goodwin Jennifer Strack 50-54 Tony Duffy gail Singleton
Mark Preston Belinda Soszyn 55-59 Philip Hanley Jo Teske
Michael O’Keeffe Angela Murray 60-64 John Warren Andrena Moore
Peter Hennessey Janice Iredale 65-69 Rick Daley Joan Beecroft
John Bennetts 70-74 loch Blatchford
geoff llewellyn 75-79 Joylon Ward Janette Picton

Radovan leovic 80+

lONg DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
fAllS CREEK fEBRUARY 2012

DUATHlON CHAMPIONSHIPS
BAROSSA vAllEY OCTOBER 2011

Male Female Male Female

Timothy Reed Melissa Rollison Elite

Open Matty White Bev Thomas

15-19 Sam Tebeck

Ryan Waddington Kirke Munch 20-24 Ben Clohsey Karen Hill

Cadeym Douglas Sarah grove 25-29 Adriano Pavia Sarah Mceachern

Peter loveridge Wendy Mcalpine 30-34 Jade frankel Rebecca O’loughlin

Sam Hume Julie Uebel 35-39 Andrew fuller Danielle Jolly

Matthew Wolstencroft Sarah Richardson 40-44 Dean Degan Kath golding

Chris Southwell Helen Wilson 45-49 Michael Pratt Jo Clippingdale

Paul Mcglynn Julienne Drysdale 50-54 Stephen fenton Nancy Cullen

David leversha Stephanie McParlin 55-59 Kevin Duffy Jan Daley

Terry Moore 60-64 Witold Krajewski

Karla McKinlay 65-69 Ken Murley
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AUSTRAlIAN JUNIOR TRIATHlON 
HONOUR ROll

AUSTRALIAN JUNIOR TRIATHLON SERIES POINT SCORE

Male Female
Sam Betten (QlD) 2007 Ashleigh gentle (QlD)

Joshua Amberger (QlD) 2008 Ashleigh gentle (QlD)

Jamie Huggett (vIC) 2009 Emma Jackson (QlD)
Drew viles (QlD) 2010 Holly Aitken (vIC)

Scott llewellyn (NSW) 2011 Ellie Salthouse (QlD)
Marcel Walkington (vIC) 2012 Jaz Hedgeland (WA)

AUSTRALIAN JUNIOR TRIATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS

Male Female
Sam Betten (QlD) 2007 Jaz Hedgeland (WA)

Jamie Huggett (vIC) 2008 Tamsyn Moana-veale (NSW)
Sam Appleton (NSW) 2009 Holly Aitken (vIC)

Ryan fisher (QlD) 2010 Emma Jackson (QlD)
Scott llewellyn (NSW) 2011 Ashleigh gentle (QlD)

Marcel Walkington (vIC) 2012 Courtney Dutton (QlD)

OTU OCEANIA JUNIOR TRIATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS

Male Female
Sam Betten (QlD) 2007 Mikayla Nielsen (NZl)

Jamie Huggett (vIC) 2008 Mikayla Nielsen (NZl)
Jos Hoetjes (NZl) 2009 Holly Aitken (vIC)

Michael gosman (ACT) 2010 Courtney Dutton (QlD)
Matt Brown (QlD) 2011 Ashleigh gentle (QlD)

Marcel Walkington (vIC) 2012 Courtney Dutton (QlD)

ANNUAL TRANS-TASMAN TRIATHLON CHALLENgE (AUS VS NZL)

Male Team Female Team

NSW 2004 NSW

NSW 2005 NSW
NZl 2006 QlD
QlD 2007 QlD
NSW 2008 vIC
NSW 2009 vIC
NZl 2010 NZl
QlD 2011 NZl
vIC 2012 NZl
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2011 AUSTRALIAN JUNIOR COMMONWEALTH gAMES SqUAD PROgRAM

Triathlon Australia was successful in gaining valuable financial assistance from the Australian Commonwealth 
games Association (ACgA) through the Australian Junior Commonwealth games Squad (AJCgS) program.  The 
aims of the AJCgS are:

• To assist junior athletes to gain international competition experiences so that they understand the conditions 
and environment which they will face as seniors;

• To assist those juniors athletes who have potential to be selected in future Australian Commonwealth games 
teams.

following the criteria set by the ACgA, Triathlon Australia awarded the 2011 Australian Junior Commonwealth 
games Squad program funding to:

 Matt Brown (QlD)
 Scott llewellyn (NSW)
 Jack Hickey  (NSW)
 Ashlee Bailie (WA)
 Tamsyn Moana-veale (NSW)
 Natalie van Coevorden (NSW)

Triathlon Australia would like to thanks Mr Perry Crosswhite and the board of 
management of the Australian Commonwealth games Association for their assistance in 
developing our future elite athletes. 
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2011-2012 ITU
WORlD CHAMPIONSHIP 

TEAMS
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WORLD DUATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS
gIJON, SPAIN SEPTEMBER 2011
Female 40-44 greg Baxter
35-39 Trisha lee 40-44 grant Ironside
50-54 louise Ibbotson 40-44 Neil Armstrong
55-59 Stephanie McPharlin 55-59 Mark Dawson

55-59 William Bardsley
Male 60-64 Bob Harlow
20-24 Julian Jacobs 60-64 Eric Coull
20-24 Todd Richards 60-64 David Wells
25-29 Caleb McInnes 65-69 John Allen (B)

WORLD SPRINT DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
BEIJINg, CHINA SEPTEMBER 2011
Female
25-29 Helen Bird 30-34 Scott Saunders
25-29 Rebecca Campbell 30-34 Simon Karantonis
25-29 Sarah lester (S) 35-39 Clint van Beveren (g)
30-34 Rachael Arnold 35-39 Murray Mitchell
35-39 Belinda Dent (B) 40-44 David Procida
35-39 Teresa Theaker 40-44 Dmitri Simons
40-44 Elizabeth Sinclair 40-44 James Allnutt
40-44 fiona Johnstone 40-44 Matt Dymond
40-44 Nicky Western (g) 40-44 Micheal Wise
45-49 georgina Macdonald 45-49 Andrew fisher
45-49 Marion Hermitage (B) 45-49 David Eck
50-54 Eleanor Dally 45-49 geoff Breese
60-64 Jane Mountford (g) 45-49 Mick Maroney (g)
65-69 Carol Bennett 45-49 Peter Hansen
65-69 Janice Iredale (S) 45-49 Ron Meteyard

45-49 Scott Macdonald
Male 45-49 Steven Mackintosh
16-19 Blaice McCaul 45-49 Wayne Donley

16-19 Daniel Coleman 50-54 Alan Draper
16-19 lachlan Kerin 50-54 David Mackay
16-19 luke farrell (g) 55-59 geoff Taylor
16-19 Matthew Whitehouse 55-59 Ian Rea
16-19 Samuel Dally 55-59 Julian Rifkin
16-19 Shane Ilgen 55-59 Phillip Hermitage
16-19 Tom Currie 55-59 William Bardsley
20-24 Joshua Duff 65-69 Ken Murley (S)
20-24 Justin Brennan 65-69 Ross Bambery
25-29 Andrew vincent 70-74 John Bennetts
25-29 Josh Dew (S) 70-74 Peter Smith (B)
25-29 vivek varadarajan AWAD T1 Bill Chaffey
30-34 James Billing AWAD T1 Matthew Brumby
30-34 Scott McDonald AWAD T2 Michael Milton
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WORLD OLYMPIC DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
BEIJINg, CHINA SEPTEMBER 2011

Female Male
20-24 Clare White 18-19 Edward Dawson 35-39 Paul Thistleton
20-24 Emma Coman-Jeffries 18-19 James Hodge (g) 35-39 Ryann Mills
25-29 Jackie Phillips 18-19 Matthew Williams (S) 35-39 Tim guille
25-29 Joanna Carman 20-24 Andrew Elshaw 35-39 Troy Drinan
25-29 Michelle Wiseman 20-24 Nicholas Dowell 40-44 Ashley Ukich
25-29 Sarah Bone 25-29 Cameron Storm 40-44 Ben franzi
30-34 Anna Hoy 25-29 Clinton Cooper 40-44 Carl Hoddy
30-34 Jennifer Erskine 25-29 Jamie Wallis 40-44 gavin Stuart
30-34 lilian Molesworth 25-29 Matthew Carman 40-44 Matthew Sheerin
30-34 Rebecca Barnard 25-29 Nicholas Quinn 40-44 Michael Busby
30-34 Sarah Dick 25-29 Phil Corrick 40-44 Robert A. Quirk
35-39 Cyrma Hearn 25-29 Robert Skillman (S) 40-44 Scott Caulfield

35-39 Helen Anderson 25-29 Simon Bevege 40-44 Stuart Durham
35-39 Jade Hancock 25-29 Tom Norris 45-49 Bruce Tomlinson
35-39 Jodi Wilson-Mark 25-29 Troy O'Shea 45-49 John O'Connor
35-39 lauren Robertson (g) 30-34 Adam Cashmore (S) 45-49 Peter Rainey
35-39 Madeleine Skinner 30-34 Adam Norden 45-49 Phillip Moss
40-44 Bronwyn Wray 30-34 Adam Young 45-49 Ritchie Bloomfield

40-44 fiona Ellis 30-34 Ashley Miles 45-49 Ross Pedlow
40-44 Joanne Mclaughlan 30-34 Cam Elliot 45-49 Simon Thiessen
40-44 lisa Beath 30-34 Clinton Robertson 50-54 Anthony Duffy (S)
40-44 Terrie Hayter 30-34 Craig foster 50-54 Bruce Robertson
40-44 Tiffany Sheerin 30-34 Curtis Hancock 50-54 Chris Penfold
45-49 leonor lawler 30-34 Euan McNair 50-54 Dereck  Daymond
45-49 libby Thomas 30-34 luke Johnston 50-54 francis Mahony
45-49 linda O'Connor (B) 30-34 Mark Atmore 50-54 Hugh Burrill
45-49 Melissa-Jayne Ketchell 30-34 Mike Austin 50-54 Ivan Burchett
45-49 Toni Peadon 30-34 Nathan gridley 50-54 John Polasek
55-59 Joanne Teske 30-34 Nicholas Seeto 50-54 Michael Anderson
60-64 Andrena Moore (g) 30-34 Scott Waters 50-54 Michael McCormick
65-59 Joan Beecroft (B) 30-34 Sean Smee (B) 50-54 Michael Sanguineti

30-34 Timothy Molesworth 50-54 Peter Hedge
30-34 Tom Morwood 50-55 John Hill
35-39 Anthony flick 50-56 lance Hughes
35-39 Brendan Cochrane 55-59 greg Salter
35-39 Daniel Weekes 60-64 Martin Brigden
35-39 Darren Westbrook 60-64 Stephen flick
35-39 James Anderson 65-69 Brian Alderman
35-39 James Brodie 65-69 Peter Holgate
35-39 Michael Check 70-74 lachlan lewis
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WORLD LONg DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
HENDERSON, lAS vEgAS NOvEMBER 2011

Female 25-29 Thomas Northcott
20-24 Holly Claridge (g) 25-29 Tim franklin
25-29 Jessica Davey 30-34 Davvyn Mason
25-29 lauren Atlee 30-34 greg Woodward
25-29 Zoe fitzgerald 30-34 luke Tuddenham
30-34 Karen Brown 35-39 Brett Sweeney
30-34 Kirrilly Mason 35-39 Clint Arizmendi
30-34 lisa Delaurentis 35-39 Dane Jennings
30-34 Melanie Ades 35-39 geoff Bramann
30-34 Rochelle Youngson 35-39 James Rosborough
35-39 Justine fisher 35-39 Michael Begg
35-39 Rose Waterhouse 35-39 Troy Drinan
35-39 Sarah fitzgerald 40-44 Justin Sparks
35-39 vanessa Dellow 40-44 lee Taylor
40-44 lyndell van de Walle 40-44 Rob  Wiles
45-49 Heather Carins 40-44 Scott Coey
45-49 Sandra Klingberg 40-44 Scott Mitchell
50-54 lynette Atkin 40-44 vincent Middleton
50-54 Shari McIntyre 45-49 Dwayne Currie

45-49 geoff Breese
Male 45-49 Ian Ross
20-24 Craig fitzsimon 45-49 Mark Griffiths
20-24 Ryan Waddington (S) 45-49 Richard Eastwood
20-24 Scott Pontague 50-54 Colin Wiley
25-29 Matthew Hood 50-54 David Herbig
25-29 Steven Wehlow 50-54 glenn Dobson

50-54 John Macnamara
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Report on the Financial Report 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Triathlon Australia Limited, (the group) which comprises 
the balance sheet as at 30 June 2012, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, 
other explanatory notes and the director’s declaration of the consolidated entity comprising Triathlon Australia 
Limited and the entity it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

 
The directors of the group are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporation Act 2001.  This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report resulting from our audit.  We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  These Auditing Standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the group’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  Our audit does not 
involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors and management. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
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Independence 
 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.  
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to the directors 
of Triathlon Australia Limited, would be in the same terms if provided to the directors as at the date of this 
auditor’s report. 
 
Auditor’s Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial report of Triathlon Australia Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 
 
a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 

and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 
the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 
 
 
 
 
………………………………………… 
Greg Thompson 
Auditor  
HURSTVILLE 
 
Date:    17 October 2012 
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Your directors present their report on the Company and its controlled entity for the financial year ended  
30 June 2012. 

1. Principal Activities  
 
The principal activities of the Group during the financial year were in accordance with the objects of the 
Company as outlined in the constitution which are: 

a. to be the national governing body for Triathlon and be recognised as such by the Australian 
Olympic Committee, Australian Commonwealth Games Committee, the ITU and the Australian 
Government; 

b. become and remain the only Australian affiliate of the ITU or its successor or assign, and 
represent and promote the interests of the members to the ITU; 

c. unite the STTAs, Affiliated Clubs and Individual Members; 

d. encourage, administer, promote, advance and manage Triathlon in Australia through 
competition and commercial means; 

e. ensure that Triathlon in Australia is carried on in a manner, which secures and enhances the 
safety of participants, officials, spectators and the public and which allow the sports to be 
competitive and fair; 

f. adopt, formulate, issue, interpret, implement and amend from time to time by-laws, rules and 
such other regulations as are necessary for the control and conduct of Triathlon in Australia; 

g. develop, manage and govern Triathlon in Australia in accordance with and having regard to 
the rules and regulations of the Company; 

h. arrange for national championships and the selection of national teams and training squads; 

i. determine, arrange and publish an annual Australian Triathlon calendar of events; 

j. pursue through itself or other such entity commercial arrangements, including sponsorship and 
marketing opportunities, as are appropriate to further the Objects; 

k. formulate or adopt and implement appropriate policies, including policies in relation to sexual 
harassment, equal opportunity, equity, drugs in sport, health, safety, infectious diseases and 
such other matters as arise from time to time as issues to be addressed in Triathlon; 

l. do all that is reasonably necessary to enable these Objects to be achieved and to enable the 
Members to receive the benefits which these Objects are intended to achieve; 

m. co-operate or join with or support any association, organisation, society, individual whose 
activities or purposes are similar to those of the Company or which advance Triathlon in 
Australia; 

n. have regard to the public interest in its operations; and undertake and or do all such things or 
activities as are necessary, incidental or conducive to the advancement of these Objects. 
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2. Operational Review 

a Financial Operating Results 

The consolidated surplus of the Group after providing for income tax and eliminating minority equity 
interests amounted to $260,996. 

b Dividends paid or declared  

In accordance with the Constitution of the Company the income and property of the Company must 
be applied solely towards the promotion of the Objects. 

No portion of the income or property of the Company may be paid or transferred, directly or indirectly 
by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise to any Member, 

No remuneration or other benefit in money or money’s worth may be paid by the Company to any 
Member who holds any office of the Company. 

c Funding of operations  

The Group has maintained its activities in the furtherance of its objectives through volunteer member 
resources, funding grants from government agencies, sponsorship and membership levies. 

The Group has also continued to undertake a whole of sport insurance policy. 

 

3. Other items 

a Significant Changes in State of Affairs 

No significant changes in the Group's state of affairs occurred during the financial year. 

b After balance day events  

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly 
affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the 
state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.  

c Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations 
Act 2001 is set out at page 40. 

d Rounding of amounts 

The Group is an entity to which ASIC Class order 98/100 applies and, accordingly, amounts in the 
financial statements and directors' report have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 
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e Future developments 

Likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations in 
future financial years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is 
likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 

f Environmental Issues 

The Group's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of 
the Commonwealth or of a state or territory. 

4. Director and Company Secretary Information 

a Information on Directors 
  

 
The names of the Directors in office at any time during, or since the end of the year are: 

 
 Name Qualifications Elected/Appointed First electe d Retired 

Peter Hedge 
(President) Chartered Accountant 

Elected 9 October 2010 
(two year term) 

Elected 14 November 2009 
 
 
 

Anthony Beven Solicitor 
Elected 9 October 2010 

(two year term) 
Elected October 2000 

 
 

Cassandra Erbs Marketing Director 
Elected 9 October 2010 

(two year term) 
  

David Ferrier Chartered Accountant 
Re-elected 15 October 2011 

(two year term) 
Elected 14 November 2009  

Murray Hilder Engineer 
Re-elected 15 October 2011 

(two year term) 
Elected 14 November 2009  

Jacqui Kenny Specialist Account 
Manager 

Appointed 15 October 2011 
(term until next AGM) 

Appointed February 2011  

Michael Maroney Teacher 
Appointed 22 May 2012 

(casual vacancy) 
  

Miles Stewart Leasing Manager 
Appointed 15 October 2011 

(term until next AGM) 
Appointed 6 April 2011  

Michelle Gallen Solicitor 
Re-elected 15 October 2011 

(two year term) 
Elected 14 November 2009 Resigned 17 April 

2012 

     

     

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated. 
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b Meetings of Directors 

During the financial year, 27 meetings of directors (excluding committees of directors) were held.  
Attendances by each director during the year were as follows: 

 

 Directors' Meetings 

 
Eligible to 

attend 
Number 
attended 

Anthony Beven 27 18 
David Ferrier 27 24 
Michelle Gallen 20 14 

Peter Hedge 27 24 
Murray Hilder 27 25 
Cassandra Erbs 27 19 
Miles Stewart 27 22 
Jacqui Kenny 27 16 
Michael Maroney 3 3 

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial 
year, for any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the Group. 

Company Secretary 

The following person held the position of Company Secretary at the end of the financial year: 

Anne Gripper, Chief Executive Officer, Triathlon Australia 

 

5. Options 

a No options granted or outstanding 

No options over issued shares or interests in the Group or a controlled entity were granted during or 
since the end of the financial year and there were no options outstanding at the date of this report. 

6. Proceedings on Behalf of Company 

a Leave or proceedings 

On the 27th October 2011 World Indoor Triathlon Events Pty Ltd commenced legal proceedings 
against Triathlon Australia Ltd in relation to purported contractual arrangements dating back to 2008.  
Collins, Biggers & Paisley are representing the Group in this matter.  The settlement amount, 
associated legal costs and a provision for the settlement of alleged legal costs incurred have been 
included as an extraordinary item in the Financial Statements. 

The Group was not a party to any other proceedings during the year. 
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7. Sign off details 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 

 

 

Peter Hedge 
President 
Triathlon Australia Limited  
17 October 2012 
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The directors of the Group declare that: 
 
1.  The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 11 to 39, are in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001: 

(a) comply with Accounting Standards; and 

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of the performance for the 
year ended on that date of the Group and consolidated group. 

 
2.  In the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they become due and payable.  

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 
Peter Hedge 
President 
Triathlon Australia Limited 
 
17 October 2012 
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  Consolidated Parent 

 Note  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

 
Revenue 2  3,812,852 2,707,909  3,812,852 2,707,909 
 
Sydney World Cup Funding    2,154,429 2,578,892  2,154,429 2,578,892 
 
Employee benefits expense   (636,668) (439,231)  (636,668) (439,231) 
 
Depreciation of plant and equipment 3  (26,993) (24,103)  (26,993) (24,103) 
 
Rent 3  (42,107) (38,860)  (42,107) (38,860) 
 
Competition expenses   (43,366) (66,685)  (43,366) (66,685) 
 
Insurance expenses   (369,016) (354,636)  (369,016) (354,636) 
 
Travel and accommodation expenses   (265,231) (258,948)  (265,231) (258,948) 
 
Elite Athlete Services   (1,568,818) (929,117)  (1,568,818) (929,117) 
 
Sydney World cup expenses   (2,154,429) (2,578,892)  (2,154,429) (2,578,892) 
 
Impairment expense   - -  (915) 138 
 
Sport development   (241,906) (43,708)  (241,906) (43,708) 
 
Other expenses   (170,280) (161,300)  (169,365) (161,438) 

 

Operating Profit before income tax   448,467 391,321  448,467 391,321 
 
Extraordinary Item   (187,471) -  (187,471) - 

 

Profit attributable to members  260,996 391,321  260,996 391,321 

 
Other comprehensive income   - -  - - 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year   260,996 391,321  260,996 391,321 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year attributable to members  260,996 391,321  260,996 391,321 
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  Consolidated Parent 

 Note  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

ASSETS        

Current assets        

 
Cash and cash equivalents 4  2,061,002 2,330,586  2,061,000 2,335,395 
 
Trade and other receivables 5  644,372 64,314  644,372 59,503 
 
Prepayments 6  365,331 8,114  365,331 8,114 
 
Other current assets 7  64,410 (374)  64,410 (374) 

Total current assets   3,135,115 2,402,640  3,135,113 2,402,638 

Non-current assets        

Investments accounted for using the 
equity method   - -  2 2 

 
Property, plant and equipment 8  30,042 42,330  30,042 42,330 
 
Intangible assets 9  - -  - - 

Total non-current assets   30,042 42,330  30,044 42,332 

TOTAL ASSETS   3,165,157 2,444,970  3,165,157 2,444,970 

LIABILITIES        

Current liabilities        

 
Trade and other payables 10  2,403,772 1,970,848  2,403,772 1,970,848 
 
Short-term provisions 11  53,242 26,975  53,242 26,975 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   2,457,014 1,997,823  2,457,014 1,997,823 

NET ASSETS   708,143 447,147  708,143 447,147 

 

EQUITY        

 
Distributable reserve   708,143 447,147  708,143 447,147 
 

TOTAL EQUITY  708,143 447,147 708,143 447,147 
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2012 Parent 

  

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2011  447,147 447,147 
Profit attributable to members  260,996 260,996 

Balance at 30 June 2012  708,143 708,143 
 

2011 Parent 

  

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2010  55,826 55,826 
Profit attributable to members  391,321 391,321 

Balance at 30 June 2011  447,147 447,147 
 

                                                      2012 Consolidated 

 

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2011 447,147 447,147 
Profit attributable to members 260,996 260,996 

Balance at 30 June 2012 708,143 708,143 
 

                                                      2011 Consolidated 

 

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2010 55,826 55,826 
Profit attributable to members 391,321 391,321 

Balance at 30 June 2011 447,147 447,147 
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  Consolidated Parent 

 Note  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Cash from operating activities:        

Receipts from customers   5,356,677 5,657,626  5,351,865 5,659,194 
Payments to suppliers and employees   (5,651,423) (4,434,204)  (5,651,422) (4,430,484) 
Interest received   39,867 22,712  39,867 22,712 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities 16  (254,879) 1,246,134  (259,690) 1,251,422 

 

Cash flows from investing activities:        
Acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment   (14,705) (19,288)  (14,705)  (19,288)  
Receipts on sale of plant 

  

-           -  -                     -  
Acquisition of intangible assets  - - - - 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
investing activities   (14,705)  (19,288)  (14,705)  (19,288)  

 
 

Net increase (decreases) in cash held   (269,584) 1,226,846 (274,395) 1,232,134
Cash at beginning of financial year   2,330,586 1,103,740 2,335,395 1,103,261

Cash at end of financial year 4  2,061,002 2,330,586 2,061,000 2,335,395
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1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) General information 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in 
accordance with Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would 
result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events 
and conditions.  Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements 
are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements cover the economic entity of Triathlon Australia Limited as an individual 
parent entity and Triathlon Australia Limited and the controlled entity as an economic entity.  
Triathlon Australia Limited is a Group limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Group in the 
preparation of the financial report.  The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless 
otherwise stated. 

(b) Basis of Preparation 

 Reporting Basis and Conventions 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs, 
modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, 
financial assets and financial liabilities. 

(c) Comparative Figures 

Where required by accounting standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with 
changes in presentation for the current financial year. 

(d) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost.  Inventories acquired at 
no cost, or for nominal consideration are valued at the current replacement cost as at the date of 
acquisition. 

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair values as indicated, less, where 
applicable, accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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 Plant and equipment  

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses. 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in 
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets.  The recoverable amount is assessed on the 
basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and 
subsequent disposal.  The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in 
determining recoverable amounts. 

 Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the asset’s useful life to the Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for 
use. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
 

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 

Plant and equipment 10 – 40% 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. 

Asset classes carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  
These gains or losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income.  When revalued 
assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to 
retained earnings. 

(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.  Bank 
overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial 
position. 

(g) Employee Benefits 

Provision is made for the Group's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by 
employees to the end of the reporting period.  Employee benefits that are expected to be settled 
within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, 
plus related on-costs.  Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits.  In determining the 
liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee 
may not satisfy vesting requirements.  Those cash outflows are discounted using market yields on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows. 
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Contributions are made by the entity to an employee superannuation fund and are charged as 
expenses when incurred. 

(h) Financial Instruments 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.  For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the 
entity commits itself to either purchase or sell the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).  

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs except where the 
instrument is classified ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ in which case transaction costs are 
expensed to profit or loss immediately.  Financial instruments are classified and measured as set out 
below. 

Derecognition 

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the 
asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing 
involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset.  Financial liabilities are derecognised 
where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire.  The difference between the 
carrying value of the financial liability, which is extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair 
value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

Finance instruments are subsequently measured at either fair value, amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, or cost.  Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties.  Where available, quoted prices in an 
active market are used to determine fair value.  In other circumstances, valuation techniques are 
adopted. 
 

 (i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 Financial assets are classified at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ when they are held for trading for 
the purpose of short term profit taking, or where they are derivatives not held for hedging purposes, 
or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance 
evaluation where a group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair 
value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy.  Such assets 
are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or 
loss. 
 

 (ii) Loans and receivables 

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Loans and 
receivables are included in current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period, which are classified as non-current assets. 
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 (iii) Held-to-maturity investments 

 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed 
or determinable payments, and it is the entity’s intention to hold these investments to maturity.  They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Held to maturity investments are included in non-
current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period.  If during the period the company sold or reclassified more than an insignificant 
amount of the held-to-maturity investments before maturity, the entire held-to-maturity investment 
would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. 

  (iv) Available-for-sale financial assets 

 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not capable of 
being classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as 
such by management.  They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is 
neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments.  Available-for-sale financial assets are 
included in non-current assets, except for those which are expected to be disposed of within 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. 
 

 (v) Financial liabilities 

 Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. 

Fair value 

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments.  Valuation 
techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s 
length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 

Impairment 

At the end of each reporting period, the entity assesses whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial instrument has been impaired.  In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a 
prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment 
has arisen.  Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

(i) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be 
reliably measured.  Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts required to 
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. 

(j) Contributions 

Triathlon Australia Limited receives non-reciprocal contributions from the government and other 
parties for no or a nominal value.  These contributions are recognised at the fair value on the date of 
acquisition upon which time an asset is taken up in the balance sheet and revenue in the income 
statement. 

(k) Revenue 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon the delivery of goods to customers. 
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Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity obtains 
control of the grant and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the 
entity and the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. 

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the 
contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are 
satisfied. 

When grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs an obligation to deliver economic value 
directly back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is 
recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to 
the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt. 

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate 
financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument. 

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the 
customers. 

 (l) Intangibles 

Software 
 Software is recorded at cost.  Software has a finite life and is carried at cost less any accumulated 

amortisation and impairment losses.  It has an estimated useful life of between one and two years.  It 
is assessed annually for impairment. 

(m) Economic Dependence 

Triathlon Australia Limited is dependent on the Australian Sports Commission for the majority of its 
revenue used to operate the entity.  At the date of this report the Board of Directors has no reason to 
believe the Australian Sports Commission will not continue to support Triathlon Australia Limited. 

(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.  In these circumstances the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST 
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

(o) Rounding of Amounts 

The Group has applied the relief available to it under ASIC Class Order 98/100 and accordingly, 
amounts in the financial report and directors' report have been rounded off to the nearest $1. 
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(p) Impairment of Assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired.  If such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value.  Any excess of the asset's carrying value 
over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income.  

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset’s ability 
to generate net cash inflows and when the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining 
future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement cost of an 
asset. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset’s class, the entity estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the class of assets belong. 

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is debited against the revaluation 
reserve in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed 
the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same class of asset. 

(q) Classification of leases in financial statement s of lessees 

Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the benefits and risks incidental to the ownership of 
the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity are classified as finance leases.  
Finance leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, including any residual values.  Leased assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely that the entity will obtain 
ownership of the asset.  Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability 
and the lease interest expense for the period. 

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the 
lessor, are charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(r) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

 The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on 
historical knowledge and best available current information.  Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the group. 
 
Key Estimates 

Impairment 

The group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluation of conditions and events 
specific to the group that may be indicative of impairment triggers.  Recoverable amounts of relevant 
assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key assumptions.   
 

(s) Income Tax 

 No provision for income tax has been raised as the entity is exempt from income tax under Division 
50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 
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(t) Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standard s 

 During the current year the company adopted all of the new and revised Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations applicable to its operations which became mandatory. 

 The adoption of these standards has impacted the recognition, measurement and disclosure of 
certain transactions.  The following is an explanation of the impact the adoption of these standards 
and interpretations has had on the financial statements of Triathlon Australia Limited. 

 AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements  

 In September 2007 the Australian Accounting Standards Board revised AASB 101 and as a result, 
there have been changes to the presentation and disclosure of certain information within the financial 
statements.  Below is an overview of the key changes and the impact on the company’s financial 
statements. 

 Disclosure impact 

 Terminology changes — The revised version of AASB 101 contains a number of terminology 
changes, including the amendment of the names of the primary financial statements. 

 Reporting changes in equity — The revised AASB 101 requires all changes in equity arising from 
transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, to be presented separately from non-owner 
changes in equity.  Owner changes in equity are to be presented in the statement of changes in 
equity, with non-owner changes in equity presented in the statement of comprehensive income.  The 
previous version of AASB 101 required that owner changes in equity and other comprehensive 
income be presented in the statement of changes in equity. 

 Statement of comprehensive income — The revised AASB 101 requires all income and expenses to 
be presented in either one statement, the statement of comprehensive income, or two statements, a 
separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income.  The previous version of 
AASB 101 required only the presentation of a single income statement. 

 The company’s financial statements now contain a statement of comprehensive income. 

 Other comprehensive income — The revised version of AASB 101 introduces the concept of ‘other 
comprehensive income’ which comprises of income and expenses that are not recognised in profit or 
loss as required by other Australian Accounting Standards.  Items of other comprehensive income 
are to be disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income.  Entities are required to disclose the 
income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income.  The previous version of 
AASB 101 did not contain an equivalent concept. 
 

(u) New Accounting Standards for Application in Fut ure Periods  

 The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have 
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods.  The company has decided against early 
adoption of these standards.  A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the 
company follows: 

• AASB 9: Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 
132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12] (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

These standards are applicable retrospectively and amend the classification and measurement of 
financial assets.  The company has not yet determined any potential impact on the financial 
statements. 
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The changes made to accounting requirements include: 

• simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and those 
carried at fair value; 

• simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives; 

• removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets; 

• removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial 
assets carried at amortised cost; 

• allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income.  Dividends in respect of these investments that are a return on investment can be 
recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of the 
instrument; 

• requiring financial assets to be reclassified where there is a change in an entity’s business 
model as they are initially classified based on (a) the objective of the entity’s business model 
for managing the financial assets; and (b) the characteristics of the contractual cash flows. 

• AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2011). 

This standard removes the requirement for government related entities to disclose details of all 
transactions with the government and other government-related entities and clarifies the definition 
of a related party to remove inconsistencies and simplify the structure of the standard.  No changes 
are expected to materially affect the company. 

• AASB 2009–4: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project [AASB 2 and AASB 138 and AASB Interpretations 9 & 16] (applicable for 
annual reporting periods commencing from 1 July 2009) and AASB 2009–5:  Further Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project [AASB 5, 8, 101, 
107, 117, 118, 136 & 139] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 January 
2010). 

These standards detail numerous non-urgent but necessary changes to accounting standards 
arising from the IASB’s annual improvements project.  No changes are expected to materially affect 
the company. 

• AASB 2009–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions [AASB 2] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2010). 

These amendments clarify the accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment 
transactions in the separate or individual financial statements of the entity receiving the goods or 
services when the entity has no obligation to settle the share-based payment transaction.  The 
amendments incorporate the requirements previously included in Interpretation 8 and Interpretation 
11 and as a consequence these two Interpretations are superseded by the amendments.  These 
amendments are not expected to impact the company. 

• AASB 2009–9: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Additional Exemptions for 
First-time Adopters [AASB 1] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after  
1 January 2010). 

These amendments specify requirements for entities using the full cost method in place of 
retrospective application of Australian Accounting Standards for oil and gas assets and exempt 
entities with existing leasing contracts from reassessing the classification of those contracts in 
accordance with Interpretation 4 when the application of their previous accounting policies would 
have given the same outcome.  These amendments are not expected to impact the company. 
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• AASB 2009–10:  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Classification of Rights 
Issues [AASB 132] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after  
1 February 2010). 

The amendments clarify that rights, options or warrants to acquire a fixed number of an entity’s 
own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency are equity instruments if the entity offers 
the rights, options or warrants pro-rata to all existing owners of the same class of its own non-
derivative equity instruments.  The amendments are not expected to impact the company. 

• AASB 2009–12: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 
119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] (applicable for annual 
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011). 

This Standard makes a number of editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations, including amendments to reflect changes made to the text of IFRSs 
by the IASB.  The Standard also amends AASB 8 to require entities to exercise judgment in 
assessing whether a government and entities known to be under the control of that government are 
considered a single customer for the purposes of certain operating segment disclosures.  The 
amendments are not expected to impact the company. 

• AASB 2009–13: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 19 
[AASB 1] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2010). 

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 1 arising from the issue of Interpretation 19.  The 
amendments allow a first-time adopter to apply the transitional provisions in Interpretation 19.  This 
Interpretation is not expected to impact the company. 

• AASB 2009–14: Amendments to Australian Interpretation — Prepayments of a Minimum Funding 
Requirement [AASB Interpretation 14] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2011). 

This standard amends Interpretation 14 to address unintended consequences that can arise from 
the previous accounting requirements when an entity prepays future contributions into a defined 
benefit pension plan. 

• AASB Interpretation 19: Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (applicable for 
annual reporting periods commencing from 1 July 2010). 

This Interpretation deals with how a debtor would account for the extinguishment of a liability 
through the issue of equity instruments.  The Interpretation states that the issue of equity should be 
treated as the consideration paid to extinguish the liability, and the equity instruments issued 
should be recognised at their fair value unless fair value cannot be measured reliably in which case 
they shall be measured at the fair value of the liability extinguished.  The Interpretation deals with 
situations where either partial or full settlement of the liability has occurred.  This Interpretation is 
not expected to impact the company. 
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2 Revenue 

 Consolidated Parent 

  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Sponsorship  - -  - - 
 
Affiliation & Membership fees  1,281,013 1,190,970  1,281,013 1,190,970 
 
Interest received  39,867 22,712  39,867 22,712 
       
Athlete levies   59,238 99,261  59,238 99,261 
 
Uniform sales   (302) 1,434  (302) 1,434 
 
Other  158,291 30,000  158,291 30,000 
 
Write back of prior period income  - -  - - 
  1,538,107 1,344,377  1,538,107 1,344,377 
 
Funding received and expended on 

elite program and funded events  4,429,174 3,942,454  4,429,174 3,942,454 

 

Total  5,967,281 5,266,802  5,967,281 5,266,801 

3 Profit from Ordinary Activities 

(a) Expenses 

Depreciation of plant and equipment  26,993 
                       

19,180  26,993 19,180 

Amortisation of development costs  - 
                         

4,923  - 4,923 

Rent  42,107 
             

38,860  42,107 38,860 

Extraordinary Item  187,471 -  187,471 - 

The extraordinary item relates to the claim by World Indoor Events Pty Ltd and includes the settled sum and 
legal fees associated with the claim. 
 

4 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash on hand  - 2  -    - 
Cash at bank  2,061,002 2,330,584  2,061,000 2,335,395 

  2,061,002 2,330,586  2,061,000 2,335,395 
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 Consolidated Parent 

  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

 Reconciliation of Cash 

Cash at the end of the financial year 
as shown in the cash flow statement 
is reconciled to items in the balance 
sheet as follows:        

Cash and cash equivalents   2,061,002 2,330,584  2,061,000 2,335,395 

   2,061,002 2,330,584  2,061,000 2,335,395 

5 Trade and Other Receivables 

Current        

Trade receivables   654,372 80,523  654,372 72,697 

Provision for impairment of 
receivables   (10,000) (16,209)  (10,000) (15,369) 

Amounts receivable from related 
parties 

  - - 650,501 650,825 
Provision for impairment of related 

parties   - - (649,566) (648,650) 

   644,372 64,314  645,307 59,503 

  

 Credit Risk — Trade and Other Receivables 

 The company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of 
receivables. 

 The following table details the company’s trade and other receivables exposed to credit risk (prior to 
collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon. 

 Amounts are considered as ‘past due’ when the debt has not been settled within the terms and conditions 
agreed between the company and the customer or counter party to the transaction.  

 Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are 
provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the 
company. 

 The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table) are considered to 
be of high credit quality, or have already been impaired. 
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 Consolidated 

  

Gross amount  
Past due and 

impaired 

Past due but not impaired 
(days overdue) Within initial  

trade terms   < 30 31–60 61–90 > 90 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 2012        

 Trade and term 
receivables 

644,372 - 503,432 33,493 9,015 98,432 - 

 Other receivables - - - - - - - 

 Total 644,372 - 503,432 33,493 9,015 98,432 - 

         

 2011        

 Trade and term 
receivables 

64,314 - 25,571 21,968 9,327 7,448 - 

 Other receivables - - - - - - - 

 Total 64,314 - 25,571 21,968 9,327 7,448 - 
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 Parent 

  

Gross amount  
Past due and 

impaired 

Past due but not impaired 
(days overdue) Within initial  

trade terms   < 30 31–60 61–90 > 90 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 2012        

 Trade and term 
receivables 

644,372 - 503,432 33,493 9,015 98,432 - 

 Other receivables    - - - - 

 Total 644,372 - 503,432 33,493 9,015 98,432 - 

         

 2011        

 Trade and term 
receivables 

57,328 - 25,570 21,968 9,327 463 - 

 Other receivables 2,175 - 2,175 - - - - 

 Total 59,503 - 27,725 21,968 9,327 463 - 
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 Consolidated Parent 

  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

 

6 Prepayments 
Prepayments  365,331 8,114  365,331 8,114 

  365,331 8,114  365,331 8,114 

7 Other Assets 

Current:       
Sundry debtors  64,410 (374)  64,410 (374)  

  64,410 (374)  64,410 (374) 

8 Property Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment at cost  114,942 100,237  114,942 100,237 
Less accumulated depreciation  (84,900) (57,907)  (84,900) (57,907) 

Total property, plant and equipment  30,042 42,330  30,042 42,330 

 

(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Consolidated  

Plant and 
Equipment 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Current Year    
Balance at the beginning of year  42,330 42,330 
Additions  14,705 14,705 
Depreciation  (26,993) (26,993) 
Disposals  - - 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2012  30,042 30,042 

 

Prior Year 

 

  
Balance at the beginning of year  42,222 42,222 
Additions  19,288 19,288 
Depreciation  (19,180) (19,180) 
Disposals  - - 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2011  42,330 42,330 
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Parent  

Plant and 
Equipment 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Current Year    
Balance at the beginning of year  42,330 42,330 
Additions  14,705 14,705 
Depreciation  (26,993) (26,993) 
Disposals    

Balance at 30 June 2012  30,042 30,042 

Prior Year    
Balance at the beginning of year  42,222 42,222 
Additions  19,288 19,288 
Depreciation  (19,180) (19,180) 
Disposals    

Balance at 30 June 2011  42,330 42,330 

  

9 Intangible assets  

(a) Carrying values 

 Consolidated Parent 

  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

       

Database Development - cost  -  11,340   -  11,340  
Accumulated amortisation and 

impairment  -  (11,340)   -  (11,340)  

Net carrying value  -  -   -  -  

Total Intangibles  -  -   -  -  

(b) Reconciliation  

 Parent 

   

Website 
Development 

$ 

Database 
Development  

$ 
Total 

$ 

Year ended 30 June 20 11      
Opening balance    -   4,923              4,923  
Additions   -  -  -      
Amortisation    -   (4,923)   (4,923)  

Disposals                        -  -   -  

Balance at 30 June 2011    -   -   -  
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(b) Reconciliation  (Cont) 
 Parent 

   

Website 
Development 

$ 

Database 
Development  

$ 
Total 

$ 

Year ended 30 June 201 2      
Opening balance   - - - 
Additions   - - - 
Amortisation   - - - 
Disposals   - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2012   - - - 

 Consolidated 

   

Website 
Development 

$ 

Database 
Development  

$ 
Total 

$ 

Year ended 30 June 201 1  
    

Opening balance   -  4,923   4,923  
Additions   - -  -            
Amortisation   -  (4,923)   (4,923)  

Disposals   - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2011   - - - 

Year ended 30 June 201 2      
Opening balance   - - - 
Additions   - - - 
Amortisation   - - - 

Disposals   - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2012   - - - 

 Consolidated Parent 

  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$  

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

10 Trade and Other Payables 
Trade payables  760,945 578,838  760,945 578,838 
Unearned revenues  1,030,856 1,166,128  1,030,856 1,166,128 
Sundry creditors and accrued expenses  612,980 223,600  612,980 223,600 
GST payable / (receivable)  (3,509) (218)  (3,509) (218)  

Other payables  2,500 2,500  2,500 2,500  

  2,403,772 1,970,848  2,403,772 1,970,848 
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2011 
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11 Provisions 

Current:       

Employee benefits  53,242  26,975  53,242  26,975  

  53,242  26,975   53,242  26,975  

12 Related Party Transactions 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

13 Auditors' Remuneration 

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent 
entity for:       

- Auditing or reviewing the financial report 
  11,110   14,300   11,110  

  
 14,300 

14 Segment Reporting 

The Group operates predominately in one business and geographical segment being administration of the 
sport of triathlon in Australia. 

15 Capital and Leasing Commitments 

(a) Operating Lease Commitments  

Future operating lease rentals not provided for in the financial statements and payable: 

Payable - minimum lease payments       

- not later than 12 months  -  -   -  -  
- between 12 months and 5 years  -  -   -  -  

  -  -   -  -  
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2011 
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2012 
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2011 
$ 
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16 Cash Flow Information      

     

(a) Reconciliation of Cashflow from Operations with 
Profit after Income Tax 
 

    

 Profit after income tax 260,996 391,321 260,996 391,321 

  
Non cash flows 

    

 Depreciation and amortisation 26,993 24,103 26,993 24,103 

 Write down of Tri Aus Events Pty Ltd loan - - - (137) 

  
Changes in assets and liabilities  
 

    

 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (580,059) 33,487 (580,059) 15,839 

  (Increase)/decrease in other assets  (64,799) 58,982   (69,610) 58,982 

  (Increase)/decrease in prepayments (357,218) 20,892 (357,218) 20,892 

  Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 432,941 717,053 432,941 720,910 

  Increase/(decrease) in provisions 26,267 296 26,267 296 

  Increase/(decrease) in related company loans  - - - 19,216 

       

  (254,879) 1,246,134 (259,690) 1,251,422  

       

17 Controlled Entities 

The parent company holds the only two issued $1 fully paid ordinary shares in a company called Tri Aus 
Events Pty Ltd.  This company has been trading since the financial year ended 30 June 2005.  Prior to and 
during the year ended 30 June 2010 this company operated triathlon events, an activity that ceased after 
the directors of Triathlon Australia Limited initiated a review of these events and resolved to cease provision 
of financial support for Tri Aus Events Pty Ltd.   While the company did not trade in the financial year ended 
30 June 2012 there was some transactions that occurred in finalization of these arrangements. 
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18 Financial Instruments 

(a) Financial Risk Management 

The entity’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market 
instruments, short-term investments, accounts receivable and payable.  

The entity does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2012. 

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as 
detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 
 

  Consolidated Parent 

 Note  2012 2011 2012 2011 

  $ $ $ $ 

 Financial Assets      

 Cash and cash equivalents 4 2,061,002 2,330,586 2,061,000 2,335,395 

 Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 

   

 — Held for trading  - - - - 

 Held-to-maturity investments    

 — Government and fixed interest 
securities 

 - - - - 

 Loans and receivables 5 644,372 64,314 644,372 59,503 

 Available-for-sale financial assets    

 — Shares in listed corporations  - - - - 

  2,705,374 2,394,900 2,705,372 2,394,898 

 Financial Liabilities    

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost    

 — Trade and other payables 10 2,403,772 1,970,848 2,403,772 1,970,848 

 — Borrowings    

   2,403,772 1,970,848 2,403,772 1,970,848 

  

 Treasury Risk Management 

 A finance committee consisting of senior committee members meet on a regular basis to analyse 
financial risk exposure and to evaluate treasury management strategies in the context of the most 
recent economic conditions and forecasts. 

 Financial Risk Exposures and Management 

 The main risks the entity is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk and credit risk. 

 Interest rate risk 

 Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and floating rate debt.  At 30 June 2012 there 
is no fixed rate debt. 
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 Foreign currency risk 

 The entity is not exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies. 

  

 Liquidity risk 

 The entity manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate 
unutilised borrowing facilities are maintained. 
 

 Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis 

Consolidated 

 Note Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Total contractual cash 
flow 

  2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities due 
for payment 

Lease Liabilities - - - - - -

Trade and other payables 
(excluding estimated 
annual leave and deferred 
income) 

 1,013,927 578,838 - - 1,013,927 578,838

Total expected outflows 1,013,927 578,838 - - 1,013,927 578,838

 

Financial assets — cash 
flows realisable  

Cash and cash equivalents 2,061,002 2,330,586 - - 2,061,002 2,330,586

Trade, term and loans 
receivables 

708,782 63,940 - - 708,782 63,940

Other investments - - - - - -

Total anticipated inflows  2,769,784 2,394,526 - - 2,769,784 2,394,526

Net (outflow)/inflow on 
financial instruments 

1,755,857 1,815,688 - - 1,755,857 1,815,688
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Parent 

 Note Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Total contractual cash 
flow 

  2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities due 
for payment 

       

Lease Liabilities  - - - - - -

Trade and other payables 
(excluding estimated 
annual leave and deferred 
income) 

1,013,927 578,838 - - 1,013,927 578,838

Total expected outflows  1,013,927 578,838 - - 1,013,927 578,838

  

Financial assets — cash 
flows realisable  

 

Cash and cash equivalents  2,061,000 2,335,395 - - 2,061,000 2,335,395

Trade, term and loans 
receivables 

 708,782 59,129 - - 708,782 59,129

Other investments  2 2 - - 2 2

Total anticipated inflows   2,769,784 2,394,526 - - 2,769,784 2,394,526

Net (outflow)/inflow on 
financial instruments 

 1,755,857 1,815,688
- -

1,755,857 1,815,688

 Credit risk 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance 
date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those 
assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.  The entity does not have 
any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under financial 
instruments entered into by the entity. 

 There are no material amounts of collateral held as security at 30 June 2012. 

 Credit risk is managed by the entity and reviewed regularly by the finance committee.  It arises from 
exposures to customers as well as through deposits with financial institutions. 

 The entity monitors the credit risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidity of counterparties: 

 — Only banks and financial institutions with an ‘A’ rating are utilised. 

 — Only accredited fund managers linked to ‘A’ rated financial institutions are used. 

 — The credit standing of counterparties is reviewed monthly for liquidity and credit risk. 

 The trade receivables balances at 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011 do not include any counterparties 
with external credit ratings.  Customers are assessed for credit worthiness using the criteria detailed 
above. 

 Price risk 

 The entity is not exposed to any material commodity price risk. 
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(b) Financial Instruments Composition and Maturity Analysis 

The table below reflects the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a fixed period of maturity, as well as management’s 
expectations of the settlement period for all other financial instruments.  As such, the amounts may not reconcile to the balance sheet. 

 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate Floating Interest Rate Non-interest Bearing Total  

 
2012 

% 
2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 

Financial Assets:        
Cash and cash equivalents  2,061,002  2,330,586  -  -  2,061,002  2,330,586  
Receivables    -  708,782  64,314  708,782  64,314  

Total Financial Assets  2,061,002  2,330,586  708,782  64,314  2,769,784  2,394,900  

Financial Liabilities:        
Trade and sundry payables  -  -  2,403,772  1,970,848  2,403,772  1,970,848  

Total Financial Liabilities  -  -  2,403,772 1,970,848 2,403,772  1,970,848  
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Trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid as follows: 

Trade payables of $760,945 are all payable in less than 3 months (2011: $578,838). 

Sundry payables of $252,982 are all payable in less than 3 months (2011: $1,391,996).   

(c) Net Fair Values 

The net fair values of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market bid price at balance 
date adjusted for transaction costs expected to be incurred.  For other assets and other liabilities the 
net fair value approximates their carrying values.  No financial assets or financial liabilities are readily 
traded on organised markets in standardised form other than listed investments.  Financial assets 
where the carrying amount exceeds net fair values have not been written down as the consolidated 
group intends to hold these assets to maturity. 

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
disclosed in the balance sheet and in the notes to the financial statements. 

Triathlon Australia Limited has no non-current borrowings. 

 Sensitivity Analysis  

The entity performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk at balance 
date.  This sensitivity analysis demonstrates that there is an immaterial effect on current year 
results and equity which could result from a change in this risk, with the primary impact being on 
the quantum of interest earned from interest bearing investments.  It is calculated that the impact 
on earnings and equity of an interest rate increase or decrease of 2% is $82,440 (2011: $93,223).  

This sensitivity analysis has been performed on the assumption that all other variables remain 
unchanged. 

No sensitivity analysis has been preformed for foreign exchange risk, as the entity is not exposed 
to fluctuations in foreign exchange. 
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19 Capital Management  
Management controls the capital of the entity to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated to 
fund its mentoring programs and that returns from investments are maximised.  The finance 
committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is in line with this objective. 

The finance committee operates under policies approved by the board of directors.  Risk 
management policies are approved and reviewed by the board on a regular basis.  These include 
credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. 

The entity’s capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. 

Management effectively manage the entity’s capital by assessing the entity’s financial risks and 
responding to changes in these risks and in the market.  These responses may include the 
consideration of debt levels. 

There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the 
entity since previous year.   

The gearing ratios for the years ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011 are as follows: 
 

  
  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables  2,403,772 1,970,848

Total  2,403,772 1,970,848

Less cash and cash equivalents  2,061,002 2,330,586

Net debt  342,770 (359,738)

  

Total equity (reserves + retained earnings)   708,143 447,157

  

Gearing ratio 
 

 N/A N/A

 

20 Key Management Personnel Compensation 

 

Short-term 
benefits 

$ 

Post 
employment 

benefits 
$ 

Total 
$ 

2012    
Total compensation 146,789 13,211 160,000 

2011    
Total compensation  116,208   10,459  126,667  
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21 Company Details 

Registered office 
The registered office and principal place of business of the Group is: 

 
Triathlon Australia Limited 

2C Hayes Road 
ROSEBERY   NSW   2018 
 

 

22 Members’ Guarantee 
The entity is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is an entity limited by guarantee.  If the entity is 
wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $1 each towards 
meeting any outstanding amounts and other obligations of the entity.  At 30 June 2012 the number of members 
was 11,928 (in 2011 number of members was 9,735). 
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I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of the financial year 
ended 30 June 2012, there have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 
Greg Thompson 
Auditor 
HURSTVILLE 
 
Date:    17 October 2012 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 


	Annual Report 2011-2012 - web.pdf
	2012 Triathlon Australia Limited Financial Statements



